The Effects of Prolonged High Fat Diet Consumption on Feeding Behavior and Dopamine Signaling

Everett B. Altherr Middlebrook, VA

M.A., Psychology, Wake Forest University, 2016 B.S., Neuroscience, The College of William & Mary, 2014

A Dissertation presented to the Graduate Faculty of the University of Virginia in Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Neuroscience Graduate Program, Department of Biology

University of Virginia,

December, 2021

Abstract:

Obesity is a costly epidemic that claims an escalating number of lives with each passing year. Despite its complex etiology, one key tenet that is widely accepted in the development of obesity is the overconsumption of caloricallyenriched foods. These foods are easily accessible, and their consumption is promoted by the brain's reward circuitry which consists primarily of the dopaminergic projections from the ventral tegmental area of the midbrain to the nucleus accumbens of the basal forebrain. This neural circuit, often referred to as the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway, is a key player in regulating various aspects of feeding behavior. However, the precise manner in which this circuitry and its attendant feeding behaviors respond to the prolonged consumption of energy-dense diets has yet to be fully elucidated. The work contained in this dissertation demonstrates that prolonged consumption of a high fat diet leads to food reward devaluation and alterations in preference that are reversible by dieting or exercise. In addition, we found that intact dopamine-1 receptor mediated signaling is essential for maintenance of food preference, and that high fat diet consumption desensitizes the response of the ventral tegmental area to palatable food reward. Our findings highlight a novel role for high fat diet consumption in the perturbation of both feeding behavior and relevant neural circuitry.

Acknowledgments:

I would like to thank Ali Güler for being my mentor throughout my graduate school career, and for providing me with a space in his lab to pursue scientific questions of my choosing. Without his leadership and guidance, I would not be the scientist that I have grown into today. I would also like to thank Aundrea Rainwater, Ryan Grippo, Qijun Tang, Qi Zhang and Sean Chadwick for being an amazing lab team and providing training, assistance, and support without hesitation throughout my entire graduate school career. Many thanks to my two undergraduate research assistants Laila Al Rawi and Darian Kaviani for their unwavering assistance, and for giving me the opportunity to grow as a mentor myself. Thanks to my committee members Ignacio Provencio, Michael Scott, Wendy Lynch, and Jessica Connelly for their continued guidance throughout graduate school, and for making themselves available whenever I needed them.

I would like to give thanks to the friends who stuck by me throughout my graduate career. In particular, I want to thank my bandmates Gerardo Ayala, William Penix, and Matt Nguyen-Ngo for giving me a healthy creative outlet to express myself and relieve stress during graduate school. In addition, my two "unlicensed emotional support" dogs Magnolia and Briar, and my jester-of-a cat Tuxie deserve special recognition for their unconditional love, endless supply of laughs, and for keeping my camera roll full.

Lastly, not a single person in my life deserves more gratitude than my loving and devoted wife Savannah. My graduate career saw me reaching some of my highest highs and lowest lows, and throughout all of it, I knew I could always rely on the constancy of her love, guidance...and stellar cooking. I don't know if I would have made it without her, and I know for certain that I wouldn't have grown into the man that I am today without her support throughout the entirety of my graduate career.

Table of Contents

Ch. 1: Introduction	1
Feeding Behavior:	2
Mesolimbic Dopamine Signaling and Feeding Behavior:	4
Effects of High-Fat Diet on Mesolimbic Dopamine Signaling:	9
Effects of High-Fat Diet on Reward-based Behavior:	11
Exercise and Mesolimbic Dopamine Signaling:	12
Ch. 2: Long-term High Fat Diet Consumption Reversibly Alters For Behavior via a Dopamine-Associated Mechanism in Mice	əeding 16
Abstract:	16
Introduction:	16
Materials and Methods:	19
Results:	24
Discussion:	40
Ch. 3: Midbrain Dopamine-1 Receptor Overexpression Fails to Re Induced Perturbations in Food Preference	store Diet- 45
Abstract:	45
Introduction:	45
Materials and Methods:	
Results:	50
Discussion:	60
Ch. 4: Conclusions and Future Directions	65
References:	71

Ch. 1: Introduction

One of the greatest medical challenges facing the developing world is the obesity epidemic. The World Health Organization (WHO) characterizes obesity as an unhealthy excess of body weight, manifesting as a body mass index (BMI) exceeding 30, while individuals with a BMI between 25 and 30 are considered overweight [1]. In 2015, 2.2 billion people worldwide were overweight, with more than 700 million of them being considered obese [2]. These individuals are at a dramatically increased risk for type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and some types of cancer [3]. Additionally, obesity is a costly epidemic, with its associated medical costs reaching a staggering \$2 trillion in 2014 and rising with each passing year [4]. The obesity epidemic is therefore a multi-dimensional health crisis, claiming innumerable lives and mass quantities of financial resources every year.

Individuals in modern society are consuming more calories on a daily basis than is necessary for adequate health and survival, leading to excess weight gain. According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), daily calorie consumption has increased by nearly 25% over the past several decades [5]. Poor dietary choices are a significant determinant in this overconsumption and are often brought on by an overabundance of readilyaccessible, highly-palatable, energy-dense foods [6,7]. The consumption of these foods is further reinforced by the brain's reward circuitry [8–11]. It is evident that poor dietary choices result in an increase in caloric consumption, leading to an increase in the prevalence of obesity and its associated cost and health risks. However, a comprehensive understanding of the relationship between the consumption of energy-dense diets and the neurobiological basis for food choices is lacking. The insight gained from research on this topic will allow us to implement better strategies to combat the obesity epidemic before it costs us more lives and financial resources.

Feeding Behavior:

Feeding behavior is a significant determinant in the regular daily activity of organisms, as food is essential for survival. It encompasses all processing and actions necessary for an organism's acquisition and consumption of food, and as such, is goal-directed in nature. Unfortunately, since feeding behavior is comprised of a complex array of interconnected processes and components, it is difficult to study and understand as a whole. These individual components must first be fully characterized in order to understand how they shape an organism's overall feeding behavior.

<u>Homeostatic and Hedonic Feeding</u>: It is universally agreed that there are two synergistic motivational processes that mediate feeding behavior: the homeostatic and hedonic pathways. Homeostatic feeding refers to the drive to eat to maintain energy balance, while hedonic feeding refers to the drive to consume food because of its perceived palatability and rewarding properties [12,13]. The arcuate nucleus (ARC) of the hypothalamus is the site of key cell types that mediate homeostatic feeding [13–15]. The two most well characterized cell types within the ARC related to homeostatic feeding are the agouti-related peptide (AgRP) and the proopiomelanocortin (POMC) neurons, which act in

opposition to each other [14,16]. Specifically, the AgRP neurons stimulate appetite while the POMC neurons suppress it. Both cell types are notable for their expression of receptors that respond to circulating leptin, ghrelin, and insulin [13,15,16]. The importance of these hormones for regulating energy homeostasis and appetite is a key determinant in establishing the AgRP and POMC neurons as critical for homeostatic feeding. Hedonic feeding however is chiefly associated with the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway [12,13]. This pathway primarily consists of dopamine producing neurons of the ventral tegmental area (VTA) that project to the nucleus accumbens (NAc) of the basal forebrain and is associated with conveying the rewarding properties of food [12–14]. Despite these two pathways possessing different neuroanatomical loci and thus being thought of as distinct and separable, they possess the ability to influence each other, thus acting in concert to shape feeding behavior. [12,13]. Though the focus of this dissertation will be primarily on hedonic feeding, it is important to note that the neural circuitry governing feeding behavior extends beyond one pathway.

<u>Food Choice:</u> The caloric content of various food substrates is a key factor in our decision to consume them from the perspective of both homeostatic and hedonic feeding. However, the precise manner in which caloric content shapes our dietary choices is poorly understood. It is known that an organism's ability to distinguish the caloric content between available foods guides subsequent foraging and consumption choices [17,18]. The effort and competition surrounding the acquisition of limited food supplies mandates the selection for the ability to direct food choices towards those of higher caloric content (homeostatic) [19,20]. However, for people in modern society, caloricallyenriched foods are plentiful and accessible without need for significant effort or competition to obtain. Unfortunately, these foods are typically low in nutritional content, while more nutritious food choices are less calorically-enriched, and thus not as preferable [21,22]. A major contributor to the preference for these calorically-enriched foods is their predisposition to contain higher amounts of sugar and fat, which contribute to their overall perceived palatability (hedonic) [23]. Furthermore, the hedonic valuation of these foods is reinforced by the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway, which serves as the brain's primary reward center [8–11]. A fully developed understanding of how this neural circuit responds to hypercaloric foods and influences subsequent feeding behavior is necessary in order to target the poor dietary choices that contribute to the obesity epidemic.

Mesolimbic Dopamine Signaling and Feeding Behavior:

Dopamine is a prominent neurotransmitter that is important for a variety of processes such as motor function, reward evaluation, and executive functions. Dopamine neurotransmission is used in distinct anatomical sub-regions for various purposes (See Box 1). One of these specialized pathways, the

mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway, consists primarily of dopamine released from ventral tegmental area (VTA) neurons in the midbrain onto the nucleus

Box 1. Dopaminergic Pathways

- **Mesolimbic** Ventral tegmental area of the midbrain to the nucleus accumbens; functions in reward processing
- Mesocortical Ventral tegmental area of the midbrain to the prefrontal cortex; functions in attention, higher order cognition
- Nigrostriatal Substantia nigra to the caudate nucleus and the putamen; functions in motor control and learning
- **Tuberoinfundibular** Arcuate nucleus to the pituitary gland; functions in regulating prolactin

accumbens (NAc) neurons of the basal forebrain and is critical for reinforcement learning, motivation, and reward processing [8]. This pathway is activated in the presence of food, leading to elevated NAc dopamine levels [13]. Though its precise role in mediating food choice and preference has yet to be explored, mesolimbic dopamine signaling has been implicated in being crucial for learning food-predictive stimuli, maintaining the motivation to seek a food reward, and conveying the hedonic value of a reward [9–11]. The involvement of mesolimbic dopamine signaling in this wide-array of feeding-related behaviors establishes it as a promising candidate for an investigation of the neurobiological basis of food preference and choice.

Food-Associated Cues: Mesolimbic dopamine signaling is a key player in facilitating the formation of associations between cues in our environment and the presence of food [24]. Presentation of a food reward is sufficient to cause dopamine release in the NAc. In animals taught to associate the delivery of food with a cue, subsequent presentations of the cue alone are sufficient to cause an influx of dopamine into the NAc, while presentations of a neutral cue are not [11,25]. Additionally, pharmacological blockade of dopamine-1 receptors (D1R) in the NAc interferes with an animal's ability to learn to associate a similar cue pairing with the delivery of a food reward [26]. Though these findings do not address food choice and preference specifically, they suggest that mesolimbic dopamine signaling could allow organisms to form an association between an energy dense food and its associative cues such as texture, smell, sight, or environmental indications of its presence. These learned associations are likely

used to establish food preferences and guide future feeding behavior towards specific food choices.

Food-seeking Motivation: Mesolimbic dopamine signaling is also important for conferring the motivation to seek a food reward, even if its acquisition is dependent upon effort. A common way researchers assess motivation in rodent models is via a progressive ratio schedule of reinforcement, where animals earn reinforcers by pressing levers a certain number of times. Depending upon the specific schedule of reinforcement, successful receipt of a reinforcer means that the animal will need to put in more work (i.e. more lever presses) to obtain the next one. Neurotoxic ablation of dopaminergic projections to the NAc leads to a decreased effort to receive a food reward [10]. Alternatively, enhancing dopamine release in the NAc by treatment with amphetamine enhances motivation to work for a food reward in a similar task [27]. Additionally, elevating NAc dopamine levels via pharmacological inhibition of the dopamine transporter (DAT) in the NAc produces a similar effect [28]. Transgenic knockdown of DAT in mice leads to increased daily food consumption, and an enhanced drive to seek out a novel food reward [29]. These findings further emphasize the importance of mesolimbic dopamine levels in controlling feeding behavior. Furthermore, they suggest that without it, it is impossible to exert the necessary effort to obtain food, which could cause individuals to continue to seek out convenient food choices such as fast-food.

<u>Post-ingestive feedback</u>: Mesolimbic dopaminergic neurons are capable of integrating post-ingestive information to influence feeding behavior [30]. An

6

example of this post-ingestive feedback involves learned flavor preferences based on nutritive value. Animals are capable of learning to prefer a flavored saccharin solution over a differently flavored saccharin solution when it is paired with an intragastric sugar infusion [31]. The role that mesolimbic dopamine signaling plays in mediating this association is made clear when D1Rs in the NAc are pharmacologically inhibited, resulting in an inability to develop a preference for the solution paired with sugar infusion. One way in which post-ingestive feedback can influence mesolimbic dopamine is through the release of ghrelin. Ghrelin is a hormone released from the gastrointestinal tract to promote hunger, and can bind to receptors in the central nervous system such as those located on dopaminergic neurons of the VTA [32]. Stimulation of ghrelin receptors in the VTA is sufficient to release dopamine into the NAc and induce feeding [33,34]. Conversely, blockade of these receptors attenuates the release of dopamine into the NAc, even following the administration of drugs of abuse [35,36]. Dopaminergic VTA neurons also express receptors for the hormones leptin and insulin, which are crucial for signaling satiety and for promoting the absorption of glucose, respectively [37]. Leptin is released from adipose tissue, and insulin is released from pancreatic beta cells. Insulin signaling in the VTA has been shown to decrease the consumption of palatable foods, preference for a location associated with the delivery of food, and has been shown to increase dopamine reuptake via the dopamine transporter [38,39]. Leptin in the VTA has been shown to decrease food intake, while knocking out its receptor in this region has the opposite effect [40]. Taken together, these findings emphasize the

widespread importance of mesolimbic dopamine in feeding behavior, as its activity is tightly regulated by multiple hormones that are released in response to ingestion of foods. This post-ingestive regulation of mesolimbic dopamine leads us to believe that it is a promising candidate for understanding how the brain encodes information about the caloric content and valuation of foods to shape preferences and dietary choices.

Reward Processing: Mesolimbic dopamine signaling contributes to arguably the most important aspect of feeding behavior: the evaluation of a food's rewarding properties. At a fundamental level, consumption of palatable foods leads to dopamine release into the NAc [41–43]. Conversely, consumption of aversive, non-palatable substances leads to a decrease in dopamine release into the NAc [44]. Even more compelling is the finding that rats consuming varying concentrations of a sucrose solution exhibit increases in NAc dopamine release that scale with the palatability [9]. Interestingly, systemic pharmacological blockade of dopamine 1, 2, or 3 receptors fails to affect rats' preference for a more palatable sucrose solution [45]. However, the sucrose solutions utilized in this study were of vastly different concentrations (5% vs 0.3%). This wide disparity in concentrations makes for a test that is lacking in sensitivity, making it difficult to detect subtle changes in preference related to reward magnitude. Taken together, these studies provide compelling evidence suggesting that mesolimbic dopamine signaling conveys information regarding the hedonic properties of food, thus providing major implications for how mesolimbic dopamine signaling may influence food preference.

Effects of High-Fat Diet on Mesolimbic Dopamine Signaling:

<u>Gene-Expression</u>: People in today's society have constant access to energy dense diets, which begs the question of how these diets are affecting our neural circuitry. Studies have demonstrated that prolonged high fat diet (HFD) consumption leads to decreased VTA expression of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), the rate-limiting enzyme in the synthesis of dopamine [46,47]. However, research examining HFD-induced changes in NAc dopamine receptor gene expression has yielded conflicting results. Studies have reported decreases in NAc dopamine 1 and 2 receptor mRNA levels or no change independent of the development of an obese-phenotype [48–50]. A similar disparity is observed in studies examining obese animals [51,52]. The issue of the inconsistency in these results is second only to the lack of methodological homogeneity across studies. Specifically, there is a lack of consensus on what constitutes "prolonged" exposure, with studies ranging anywhere from a few weeks to several months of hypercaloric diet access. Additionally, studies differ in terms of the animals used: some are obese, some don't differ in bodyweight from standard chow fed counterparts, and some are further characterized based upon their "obesity prone" nature. This lack of uniformity in the way the studies are conducted, coupled with the unclear results, makes it difficult to interpret the effects of energy dense diets on gene expression relevant to mesolimbic dopamine signaling. Further study is needed to give clearer insight into whether or not prolonged exposure to an energy dense diet can dysregulate gene expression related to mesolimbic dopamine signaling.

Dopamine Transmission: Despite the somewhat inconclusive nature of gene-transcript level investigations, other approaches have yielded definitive evidence demonstrating dysregulation of mesolimbic dopamine signaling in response to prolonged hypercaloric diet exposure. In rats, long-term HFD consumption leads to decreased extracellular dopamine levels in the NAc [53]. Additionally, prolonged exposure to a hypercaloric diet dampens dopamine release in the NAc during the presentation of a novel palatable food [49]. This HFD-mediated attenuation of dopamine release extends beyond food reward. Specifically, animals fed a HFD exhibit diminished dopamine release in response to amphetamine administration [54]. Under normal conditions, drugs of abuse such as amphetamine are capable of eliciting NAc dopamine release at levels almost four times as great as levels achieved by a food reward [55]. The aforementioned blunted dopamine response to amphetamine in HFD-raised animals suggests that not even a rewarding stimulus as potent as amphetamine is capable of overriding HFD-induced perturbations in mesolimbic dopamine signaling. Taken together, these findings suggest that energy dense diets are capable of disrupting mesolimbic dopamine signaling when consumed over a long period of time. Importantly, prolonged exposure to an energy dense diet leads to decreased dopamine turnover in the NAc, independent of the development of an obese phenotype [56]. This suggests that it is not obesity itself that is dysregulating mesolimbic dopamine signaling, but rather the mere exposure to the diet. The implications of this are alarming, as they suggest that

our neural circuitry is susceptible to perturbation from the foods we eat, regardless of how well we can maintain a healthy BMI.

Effects of High-Fat Diet on Reward-based Behavior:

The aforementioned studies clearly demonstrate how consumption of energy dense diets can perturb neural circuitry associated with mesolimbic dopamine signaling. However, these findings don't speak to the manner in which these diets may shape downstream behaviors. As the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway is a key mediator of reward-based behavior, it stands to reason that if HFD consumption can affect this pathway, it could also produce alterations in behavior as well. With regard to feeding behavior in rodents specifically, prolonged consumption of a hypercaloric diet has been shown to decrease the drive to seek out and consume a novel palatable food reward [50]. Prolonged HFD consumption has also been shown to lead to decreased motivation to exert effort to receive palatable food rewards [57–59]. In addition, long-term hypercaloric diet consumption leads to a decrease in the consumption of a standard lab diet, even if that diet is the only food option available [60,61]. Importantly, these behavioral alterations still persist when daily caloric intake and weight gain are restricted in animals consuming HFD [60,62,63]. This suggests that HFD-mediated behavioral alterations are not due to caloric satiation and decreased homeostatic drive. Taken together, these findings suggest that prolonged consumption of palatable energy dense diets leads to a devaluation of other food rewards.

Remarkably, this diet-induced devaluation phenotype extends to drugs of abuse as well. Specifically, prolonged consumption of a diet high in saturated fats leads to a decreased preference for a location associated with amphetamine delivery in a conditioned place preference assay [57,64]. Conversely, rodents with restricted food access exhibit a heightened preference for a location associated with amphetamine delivery and are willing to exert more effort to obtain amphetamine compared to animals give ad libitum access to standard lab diet [65,66]. Mice raised on a HFD also exhibit a diminished preference for a 1% sucrose solution over water in a two bottle sucrose preference test [58,67]. The sucrose preference test is a behavioral tool that is commonly used to assess anhedonia and reward devaluation in mouse models of depression [68]. Thus, the poor performance of HFD-raised mice on this assay suggests that prolonged energy dense diet consumption is inducing a state of overall reward dysfunction in these animals. Taken together, these findings indicate that diet-induced reward devaluation is not exclusive to food rewards, and may contribute to the remodeling of reward-based behaviors as a whole.

Exercise and Mesolimbic Dopamine Signaling:

Exercise is a regularly prescribed intervention strategy for combating obesity and its comorbidities such as high blood pressure and heart disease. However, the manner in which exercise affects neural circuitry, including the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway, has yet to be fully elucidated. It is known that exercise itself is a rewarding behavior; rodents will rapidly acquire wheel-running behavior and will actively seek situations that permit them to run [69–71]. The reinforcing nature of exercise is promoted by mesolimbic dopamine signaling, as evidenced by the ability of VTA electrical stimulation to enhance treadmill running [72]. In vivo recordings from the VTA during wheel-running demonstrate enhanced burst firing of dopaminergic neurons at running onset and termination [73]. Treadmill running is also associated with elevated levels of dopamine and its metabolites in the striatum [74]. Additionally, treadmill running increases neuronal activity in the NAc as evidenced by increased c-Fos levels [75]. This effect is dependent upon dopamine-1 receptor (D1R) availability, and is blocked by systemic administration of the D1R antagonist SCH-23390. Exercise has also been shown to possess marked therapeutic potential in reversing phenotypes associated with several drugs of abuse [76,77]. This therapeutic potential, combined with exercise's engagement of mesolimbic dopamine signaling, makes it a worthy candidate in the investigation of ways to reverse potential diet-induced alterations in feeding behavior and reward circuitry.

Exercise's immediate utilization of mesolimbic dopamine signaling is clear, but the aforementioned diet-induced perturbations in dopamine signaling and reward-based behavior occur after prolonged exposure to a HFD. In order to fully understand the potential for exercise to attenuate these deficiencies, we must gain a better understanding of how continued exercise influences mesolimbic dopamine signaling in the long-term. Unfortunately, research on this particular topic is scarce and the studies that have addressed it have produced some contradictory findings. Studies examining changes in mRNA and receptor binding of both D1 and D2 receptors in the NAc following long-term exercise regimens have demonstrated no change in D1R mRNA and reduced D2R mRNA [78] or decreased D1R binding and increased D2R binding [79]. Though these findings do appear in direct conflict of one another, it is important to keep in mind that mRNA levels are not necessarily indicative of relative protein expression levels, of which dopamine receptor binding assays are a better representation. Nevertheless, a better characterization of exercise's effects on NAc dopamine receptor expression is necessary for a complete understanding of how exercise can induce plasticity in the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway.

When looking upstream of dopamine receptors in the NAc, long periods of voluntary exercise has been shown to lead to increased TH mRNA expression in the VTA of rats [78,80,81]. This upregulation of TH in the VTA suggests that regular exercise could sensitize the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway by facilitating an increase in mesolimbic dopamine release. These exercise-induced alterations could function to counteract deficiencies in mesolimbic signaling brought on by prolonged consumption of energy-dense food. It has been demonstrated that a long-term exercise intervention in obese mice restores deficiencies in VTA tyrosine hydroxylase expression, as well as deficiencies in NAc dopamine levels and D2R expression [82]. These findings suggest that in addition to being effective for combating deadly comorbidities associated with obesity, exercise is an effective means to undo potential diet-induced changes in mesolimbic dopamine signaling.

When considering the current literature on dopamine signaling and HFD consumption as a whole, several key points are clear: (1) mesolimbic dopamine

14

signaling mediates various reward-related facets of feeding behavior, (2) HFD consumption leads to alterations in both mesolimbic dopamine signaling and reward-based behavior, and (3) exercise engages the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway and promotes plasticity therein. My graduate career sought to delve further into feeding behavior with a specific focus on food preference and choice, and the manner in which both prolonged HFD consumption and mesolimbic dopamine signaling affect these behavioral constructs. The effects of HFD consumption on food preference/choice and the neurobiological basis for these effects remains unknown, and the findings contained within this dissertation better characterize these relationships.

<u>Ch. 2:</u> Long-term High Fat Diet Consumption Reversibly Alters Feeding Behavior via a Dopamine-Associated Mechanism in Mice

Published as a research article in *Behavioural Brain Research* September, 2021 Accessible at <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2021.113470</u>

Abstract:

Obesity is a costly, global epidemic that is perpetuated by an unhealthy diet. A significant factor in the initial consumption and maintenance of an unhealthy diet is the abundance of highly palatable, calorically dense foods. The aim of the present study is to better understand the effects of high fat diet (HFD) consumption on food valuation and preference, and to elucidate the neurobiological mechanisms mediating these effects. By using a novel food preference assay, we found that prolonged consumption of a HFD diminishes preference for and consumption of the more calorically dense food choice when two lab diets are presented. Additionally, we demonstrated that prolonged HFD consumption dampens ventral tegmental c-fos induction during hedonic feeding, implicating the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway as a target of HFD. Notably, both the changes in food preference and this reduced c-fos induction were reversed during withdrawal from HFD. Further, HFD-induced alterations in food preference were attenuated by exercise. Our findings suggest that prolonged HFD consumption leads to anhedonia and altered feeding choices, and this is associated with changes in mesolimbic dopamine signaling.

Introduction:

According to the World Health Organization, obesity is a multifaceted health crisis stemming from overconsumption of calories relative to energy expenditure, leading to excess weight gain. Obese individuals are at a dramatically increased risk for type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, and some types of cancer [3]. Dieting and exercise are the most commonly prescribed treatments for obesity. However, they are often ineffective as long-term solutions due to patients' frequent relapse into sedentary lifestyles [6,83]. Unhealthy diets are positively correlated with caloric overconsumption and are perpetuated by an abundance of readily accessible, highly-palatable, energy-dense foods [7,84]. Consumption of unhealthy diets is further promoted by prior experience with energy-dense foods [85,86]. Furthermore, the salience of palatable, high fat foods is conveyed via the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway, which serves as the brain's reward circuit [8–11]. This pathway consists of dopaminergic projections from the ventral tegmental area (VTA) to the nucleus accumbens (NAc) and is activated in the presence of food, leading to elevated NAc dopamine levels [13]. Functionally, this pathway is critical for reinforcement learning, motivation, and reward processing [8]. Despite its necessity for food reward processing, the way mesolimbic dopamine signaling and its attendant feeding behaviors adapt to prolonged HFD consumption has yet to be fully characterized.

Feeding behavior involves an exceedingly complex array of processes that integrate information regarding energy homeostasis and incentive salience [12,13]. In rodents, the consumption of a HFD has been associated with

remodeling of reward-related behaviors, including feeding. Prolonged consumption of a HFD has been shown to lead to a diminished preference for sucrose over water in a two-bottle choice test, and decreased preference for a location associated with food rewards in a conditioned place preference assay [58,67,87,88]. It has been shown that prolonged HFD consumption leads to devaluation of standard chow even after HFD access has been ceased [60]. In addition, long-term HFD consumption has been associated with diminished motivation to attain food reward in progressive ratio and food seeking tasks [50,58,87]. HFD-induced reward devaluation extends to drugs of abuse as well, leading to a reduced conditioned place preference for amphetamine delivery [57,64]. Integrity of the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway is susceptible to HFD consumption [48–50]. For example, prolonged HFD consumption dampens food reward or amphetamine induced dopamine release in the NAc [49,89], independent of an obesity phenotype [57]. However, despite these established HFD-mediated effects, the capability of accessible behavioral interventions (ie. dieting and exercise) to reverse them is rarely investigated.

Because the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway serves as a nexus for many aspects of feeding behavior, consumption of a HFD has been shown to affect both this pathway as well as the evaluation of food rewards, and dieting and exercise are the most common means to achieve weight loss in humans, we investigated the following hypotheses: (1) prolonged consumption of a HFD alters feeding behavior via perturbations of the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway, and (2) these alterations are reversed via dietary changes and exercise. To evaluate these hypotheses, we developed an assay that examines changes in preference between two different chows. We tested whether HFD changes food preference and amount of test food consumed. We then examined the effects of HFD on mesolimbic dopamine signaling during hedonic feeding. We discovered that HFD diminishes preference for a more calorically dense chow, and that this behavioral change can be reversed by withdrawing animals from HFD or by allowing them to engage in voluntary exercise. Additionally, we found that HFD consumption dampened c-fos induction in the VTA during palatable feeding, and that this effect was reversed in animals withdrawn from HFD. Our findings implicate a role for dopamine signaling following prolonged HFD consumption, which leads to reversible alterations in food preference.

Materials and Methods:

<u>Animals</u>: All experiments complied with NIH animal care and use guidelines, and were approved by the University of Virginia Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Male mice were housed on a 12-hour light/dark cycle (lights on between 7am and 7pm), in standard ventilated cages with corncob bedding, cotton nesting material (Nestlets[™], Ancare, Bellmore, NY, USA) and a paper soufflé cup (product F400, Genpak, Charlotte, NC). C57BL/6 breeder mice were originally obtained from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, USA). Maintenance diets were furnished to both breeders and offspring except where acute dietary treatment is specified. All experiments took place using male mice, and all experimental mice were habituated to individual housing for at least 3 days prior to intake procedures. All behavioral tests and tissue collections took place at 14 weeks of age.

<u>Diets Used:</u> Control mice received *Envigo* (Huntingdon, United Kingdom) product 8664 *Teklad F6 Rodent Diet* (standard diet, 3.1 kcal/g; 19% fat, 31% protein, 50% carbohydrates). Control mice in the 2 bottle choice test (Fig 1A) were provided *LabDiet* (St. Louis, MO) product 5053 *PicoLab Rodent Diet 20* (standard diet, 3.07 kcal/g; 13% fat, 25% protein, 62% carbohydrates) due to discontinuation of *Envigo* product 8664. Mice on high fat diet (HFD) received: *Research Diets Open Source Diets* (Research Diets, New Brunswick, NJ, USA) product D12451 (OS red, 4.73 kcal/g; 45% fat, 20% protein, 35% carbohydrates).

<u>Food Preference Test:</u> Mice were habituated to 2 novel test chows for 3 days prior to the preference test. During this habituation period, test chows were provided on the cage floor and maintenance diet remained in the wire cage top. At the start of the preference test, mice were weighed, the maintenance diet was withdrawn, and the test chows (~20 g of each) were weighed and added to the cage floor. Remaining test chow and animal body weights were recorded again 24 hr later. Consumption of each test chow for every animal was divided by that animal's body weight corresponding to the start of the 24 hour test period. Preference scores were calculated as the portion of total test chows used during 24 hr food choice tests were as follows: *Bio-Serv (Flemington, NJ, USA) Product F3028 Rodent Diet Grain-Based Control* (BS F3028, 3.35 kcal/g; 13% fat, 29% protein, 58% carbohydrates) versus *Bio-Serv (Flemington, NJ, USA)*

20

Product F3156 Rodent Diet AIN-93G (BS F3156, 3.74 kcal/g; 17% fat, 19% protein, 64% carbohydrates). Both of these diets were selected because they are contrasting in color with respect to the animals' bedding, and are lower in energy and fat content compared to the diet the HFD animals were raised on. Bedding was thoroughly searched for test chow crumbs when weighing test chows at the conclusion of the test.

<u>2-bottle choice test</u>: Mice were habituated to our 2 bottle-choice setup for 2 days prior to the sucrose preference test. This habituation period was followed by two test days. During the habituation period, mice were housed in specialized cages (Columbus instruments DM-8 Drinking Event Monitor) with constant access to maintenance diet on the cage floor, as well as one bottle with water and a second bottle with a 1% sucrose solution. Bottle location (left vs. right side) alternated daily following each habituation and test day. Animals and bottles were weighed before and after each day. Fresh water and sucrose solutions were provided daily. Preference scores were calculated as the portion of total fluid intake attributable to the sucrose solution. In order to control for a potential side bias, the results from the two test days were averaged together for the final analysis.

<u>Exercise</u>: At 10 weeks of age, control mice and mice raised on HFD were provided with Bio Serv Mouse Igloos[®] equipped with either Fast-Trac accessory running discs or nothing. After four weeks of access to the Igloos with or without running discs, mice underwent the food preference test described previously (section 2.3). In order to quantify the amount of exercise achieved by control and HFD-raised animals, a separate cohort of animals raised on either diet were individually housed with ad libitum access to drinking water and food (control diet or HFD). Each cage was also provided with a Bio Serv Mouse Igloo[®] equipped with a Fast-Trac accessory running disc. A magnetic sensor was attached to the igloo and two permeant magnets were attached to the running discs to allow the recording and analysis of disc turns through the ClockLab collection and analysis system (Actimetrics, Wilmette, IL). Seven days of recoding was collected for each animal and data from days 4 and 5 were averaged for the final comparison.

<u>C-fos immunohistochemistry:</u> Mice were habituated to a novel HFD, D12492 (OS aqua, 5.24 kcal/g; 60% fat, 20% protein, 20% carbohydrates), on the floor of their home cages for 2 days. Additional cohorts were habituated to a novel SD, 7912 (Teklad LM-485, 3.1 kcal/g; 17% fat, 25% protein, 58% carbohydrates). During habituation, animals had 30 minutes (starting at 2pm) to freely consume the novel chow. Maintenance diet was available ad libitum in the wire cage top. A single test day followed the two habituation days and was identical in procedure to habitation. 90 minutes after cessation of the 30-minute feeding period on test day, animals were euthanized via a ketamine/xylazine cocktail (280mg/kg; 80mg/kg) and intracardially perfused with cold 0.01M phosphate buffer solution (PBS) followed by fixative solution (4%) paraformaldehyde (PFA) in PBS at a pH of 7.4). Following perfusion, brains were dissected and post-fixed in PFA overnight at 4 degrees C. The next day, fixed brains were rinsed in PBS and placed in 30% sucrose in PBS for 24 hours before being frozen on dry ice. Coronal sections (30 mm) containing the VTA were

collected with a cryostat (Microm HM 505 E). Sections were permeabilized with 0.5% Triton X-100 in PBS (PBS-T) and blocked with 3% normal donkey serum (Jackson ImmunoResearch) in PBS-T (PBS-T DS) for 60 min at room temperature. Sections were then incubated overnight in primary antibodies for c-Fos (rabbit, 1:1000, synaptic systems) and tyrosine hydroxylase (chicken, 1:500, Millipore AB9702) diluted in PBS-T DS. For visualization, sections were washed with PBS-T and incubated with appropriate secondary antibodies diluted in the blocking solution for 3 hours at room temperature. Secondary antibodies (Jackson Immunoresearch) were Cy-2 conjugated donkey anti-rabbit (1:250) and Cy-3 conjugated donkey anti-chicken (1:250). Sections were washed three times with PBS and mounted using DAPI Fluoromount-G (Southern Biotech). Images were captured on a Zeiss Axioplan 2 Imaging microscope equipped with an AxioCam MRm camera using AxioVision 4.6 software (Zeiss).

<u>Food and water intake, and fat mass measurements:</u> A separate cohort of SD and HFD-raised animals were monitored for daily consumption of water and home chow (SD or HFD) intake for four days. Each day the amount of water consumed was recorded, as was the amount of home chow. Home chow intake was corrected for body mass daily. These measures were averaged across four days for each animal. At the conclusion of the four days, animals were euthanized via cervical dislocation, and their brown (BAT), gonadal white (GWAT), and subcutaneous (SCAT) adipose tissue masses were measured.

<u>Statistics:</u> Statistical analysis was performed using *Prism GraphPad* software. Data are presented as means \pm standard error of the mean (s.e.m.).

All statistical analyses were performed using ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* for multiple comparisons. Complete statistical results are included within the text.

Results:

Prolonged consumption of a high fat diet diminishes preference for and consumption of a more palatable liquid or solid food choice: To confirm previous studies demonstrating that HFD consumption leads to anhedonia [58,67,88], we first tested animals in a two-bottle sucrose preference assay. Two cohorts of animals, one raised on standard lab (SD) diet and one raised on HFD [Fig. 1A], were assessed on their preference for a 1% sucrose solution over water at 14 weeks of age. We discovered that animals that had been consuming HFD demonstrated a diminished preference for sucrose compared to water [t=3.240, p<0.01, df=10; n=9/group; Fig. 1B], and diminished overall liquid consumption [t=3.593, p<0.01, df=10; n=9/group; Fig. 1C] during test days. This reduced consumption was due to dampened consumption of sucrose specifically [F(1,32)=11.44; p<0.01; n=9/group; Supplemental Fig. 1A]. These data reaffirm the development of HFD-induced anhedonia in these animals [58,67,88]. However, the two-bottle preference assay utilizes liquids, and its findings cannot necessarily be generalized to feeding behavior and food preference. To overcome this limitation, we developed a novel food preference test that assesses animals' preference for a more palatable food choice over a less palatable one.

The two chows we used to assess food preference differed by 0.39 kcal/g (3.35 vs. 3.74 kcal/g) in caloric content. Importantly, these two chows are lower in

both fat and overall energy density than the diet consumed by the HFD group (4.73 kcal/g). Animals that were raised on either SD or HFD were assessed on their preference between these two novel chows during a 24-hr period [Fig. 1D]. Similar to what we observed during the sucrose preference test, animals raised on HFD exhibited diminished preference for a more energy dense chow [t=5.802, p<0.0001, df=18; n=10/group; Fig.1E], and consumed less test chow overall [t=6.181, p<0.0001, df=18; n=10/group; Fig. 1F] during testing when compared to SD fed controls. Comparable to our observations from the sucrose preference test, the HFD-raised animals' reduced test chow consumption is due to the decreased intake of the preferred choice specifically [F(1,36)=47.83; p<0.0001;n=10/group; Supplemental Fig. 1B]. Interestingly, HFD-raised animals were not significantly heavier than their SD-raised counterparts during both the sucrose preference test [t=2.002; p=0.0626; df=16; n=9/group; Supplemental Fig. 1C] and the food preference test [t=1.312; p=0.2060; df=18; n=10/group; Supplemental Fig. 1D]. In agreement with this finding, HFD-raised and SD-raised animals consumed similar amounts of maintenance diet [t=1.211; p=0.2459; df=14;n=8/group; Supplemental Fig. 2A] and had similar total fat mass (GWAT, BAT, SCAT) [t=0.866; p=0.4008; df=14; n=8/group; Supplemental Fig. 2B]. In addition, we observed no significant correlation between body weight and food preference [SD-raised: R²=0.001530; p=0.9146; n=10/group; HFD-raised: R²=0.3569; p=0.0682; n=10/group; Supplemental Fig. 3A] or body weight and total test chow consumption [SD-raised: R²=0.07323; p=0.4495; n=10/group; HFD-raised: R^2 =0.02586; p=0.6572; n=10/group; Supplemental Fig. 3B] in either group.

Taken together, these findings suggest that the devaluation of the more palatable food choice occurs independent of an obese phenotype. Next, we wanted to determine if a shorter period of access to HFD could produce the same results [Fig. 2A]. Indeed, when animals consumed a HFD for only four weeks prior to testing, the same effects on preference [F(2,27)=26.40; p<0.0001; n=10/group; Fig. 2B] and consumption [F(2,27)=78.70; p<0.0001; n=10/group; Fig. 2C] were observed. This includes decreased consumption of the preferred test chow specifically [F(2,54)=72.86; p<0.0001; n=10/group; Supplemental Fig. 4A]. These findings suggest that HFD consumption can affect feeding behavior over a shorter period, and with the first exposure not occurring until later in life.



Fig.1. Prolonged consumption of a high fat diet diminishes preference for and consumption of a more palatable liquid or solid food choice. (A) Schematic illustrating the 2-bottle experimental setup. (B) Preference for sucrose over water in a two-bottle choice test. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=9/group. (C) Total fluid consumed (sucrose and water) during the two-bottle choice test. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=9/group. (D) Schematic illustrating food preference experimental setup. (E) Preference for the more energy dense test chow during the food preference test. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=10/group. (F) Total amount of both test chows consumed during the food preference test corrected for body weight. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=10/group. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. **p < 0.001; ***p<0.001; ****p<0.001. See also Supplemental Figures 1 and 2.



Supplemental Fig.1. Prolonged HFD consumption has no effect on body weight during the sucrose or food preference tests, and leads to decreased consumption of the preferred choice in both sucrose and food preference tests. (A) Amount of sucrose or water consumed during the sucrose preference test. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* comparison; n=9/group; $F_{choice}(1,32)=89.63$, p<0.0001; $F_{diet}(1,32)=11.44$, p=0.0019. (B) Amount of either test chow consumed during the food preference test. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* comparison; n=10/group; $F_{choice}(1,36)=206.1$, p<0.0001; $F_{diet}(1,36)=47.83$,

p<0.0001. (C) Body weight during the sucrose preference test. Student's twotailed t-test; n=9/group. (D) Body weight during the food preference test. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=10/group. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. *****p < 0.0001.



Supplemental Fig.2. HFD-raised animals consume less water than SD-raised animals at baseline, but consume an equivalent amount of calories and do not differ in total fat mass. (A) Amount of home-cage chow (SD or HFD) consumed during baseline corrected for body weight. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=8/group. (B) Total fat mass (GWAT+SCAT+BAT) at baseline. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=8/group. (C) Amount of water consumed at baseline. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=8/group. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. **p < 0.01.



Supplemental Fig.3. Body weight is not correlated with test chow intake or preference during the food preference test. (A) Correlation between body weight and preference for the more energy-dense test chow during the food preference test. Simple linear regression; n=10/group. (B) Correlation between body weight and total amount of both test chows consumed during the food preference test corrected for body weight. Simple linear regression; n=10/group. R² and corresponding p-values are plotted for each slope.



Fig.2. HFD-induced alterations in food preference are reversed by dieting. (A) Schematic illustrating the experimental setup. (B) Preference for the more energy dense test chow during the food preference test. One-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* comparison; n=10/group; F(2,27)=26.40; p<0.0001. (C) Total amount of both test chows consumed during the food preference test corrected for body weight. One-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* comparison; n=10/group; F(2,27)=78.70; p<0.0001. Data are represented as mean ± SEM. **p < 0.01; ****p < 0.0001. See also Supplemental Figure 4.



Supplemental Fig.4. Switching animals' diet for 4 weeks has no effect on body weight, but alters their consumption of the preferred choice in the food preference test. (A) Amount of either test chow consumed during the food preference test. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* comparison; n=10/group; $F_{choice}(1,54)=617.7$, p<0.0001; $F_{diet}(1,54)=72.86$, p<0.0001. (B) Body weight during the food preference test. One-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-*
hoc comparison; n=10/group; F(2,27)=3.841; p=0.0486. Data are represented as mean ± SEM. **p<0.01; ****p < 0.0001.

HFD-induced alterations in food preference are reversed by dieting or exercise: We next sought to determine if behavioral interventions could reverse the alterations in feeding behavior that are produced by prolonged HFD consumption. We first chose to examine if withdrawing HFD-raised animals from HFD prior to the preference test could reverse their reduced preference and intake during the assay. To test this, we switched HFD-raised animals to SD at 10 weeks of age and assessed their preference at 14 weeks of age [Fig. 2A]. Following this dietary switch, we found that these animals no longer exhibited dampened preference for the more energy dense test chow [F(2,27)=26.40]; p<0.0001; n=10/group; Fig. 2B] or attenuated test chow consumption [F(2,27)=78.70; p<0.0001; n=10/group; Fig. 2C]. Animals withdrawn from HFD weighed the same as animals raised on SD for 14 weeks [SD=27.57±0.4292 vs. HFD->SD=27.52±1.113; p=0.9991, Bonferroni multiple comparisons test; n=10/group; Supplemental Fig. 4B]. This was unsurprising considering that our HFD-raised mice failed to gain significant weight compared to SD-raised control mice [t=1.312, p=0.2060, df=18; n=10/group; Supplemental Fig. 1C]. Interestingly, these animals consumed more test chow than their SD raised counterparts [SD=0.44±0.02708 vs. HFD->SD=0.5450±0.02029; p<0.01, Bonferroni multiple comparisons test; n=10/group; Fig. 2C]. This heightened consumption is specifically due to an increased intake of the preferred food choice [F(2,54)=72.86; p<0.0001; n=10/group; Supplemental Fig. 4A]. One

possible explanation for this is that the animals withdrawn from HFD are exhibiting a sensitized behavioral response to the more palatable test chow, much like what is observed in animal models of drug abstinence and relapse [90]. Taken together, these findings demonstrate that switching to a less calorically enriched diet is sufficient to reverse HFD-induced alterations in food preference. These data demonstrate that the influence of HFD over food preference and consumption is not permanent.

We next assessed whether exercise could reverse the HFD-induced behavioral changes in preference and intake. To this end, we raised additional cohorts of animals on either SD or HFD. All groups were provided Bio Serv Mouse Igloos[®] for 4 weeks prior to the preference test [Fig. 3A]. One group of each diet received these igloos with Fast-Trac accessory running discs attached to them [Supplemental Fig. 5A]. When given these running discs, both SD and HFD raised animals run on them in equivalent amounts daily [t=1.782, p= 0.0900, df=20; n=11/group; Supplemental Fig. 5B]. Access to a running disc in HFDraised animals reversed HFD-induced alterations in food preference [F(1,35)=7.401; p<0.05; n=8-14/group; Fig. 3B] without restoring total test chow consumption amount [F(1,35)=1.516; p=0.2264; n=8-14/group; Fig. 3C] or consumption of the preferred test chow specifically [F(1,70]=1.455; p=0.2318;n=8-14/group; Supplemental Fig. 5C]. This behavioral response is strikingly different than what we observed in response to dietary intervention (Fig. 2C) and suggests that food preference and consumption are independently modulated components of feeding behavior. Additionally, we were surprised to observe that

33

HFD-raised control animals with access only to the igloo weighed more than the SD-raised igloo controls [F(1,35)=20.11; p<0.0001; n=8-14/group; Supplemental Fig. 5D] in contrast to the lack of body weight gain in HFD-raised animals [t=1.312, p=0.2060, df=18; n=10/group; Supplemental Fig. 1C]. We suspect this to be due to the potential extra warmth provided by the igloo, allowing those HFD-raised animals to conserve more energy [91]. Taken together, our findings implicate relatively simple and accessible means by which HFD-induced behavioral modifications can be reversed.



Fig.3. HFD-induced alterations in food preference are reversed by exercise. (A) Schematic illustrating the experimental setup. (B) Preference for the more energy dense test chow during the food preference test. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* comparison; n=8-14/group; $F_{exercise}(1,35)=7.401$, p=0.0101; $F_{diet}(1,35)=11.01$, p=0.0021. (C) Total amount of both test chows consumed during the food preference test corrected for body weight. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* comparison; n=8-14/group; $F_{exercise}(1,35)=1.516$, p=0.2264; $F_{diet}(1,35)=68.63$, p<0.0001. Data are represented as mean ± SEM. **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; ****p < 0.0001. See also Supplemental Figure 5.





Supplemental Fig.5. Non-exercising HFD-raised animals are heavier than SD-raised animals and exercising HFD-raised animals. SD and HFD-raised animals exercise in equivalent amounts. Both exercising and non-exercising HFD-raised animals consume less of the preferred choice in the food preference test. (A) Images of a Bio-Serv Igloo both with (exercise) or without (control) the Fast-Trac accessory running disc attached. (B) Mean number of exercise wheel revolutions per day. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=11/group. (C) Amount of either test chow consumed during the food preference test. Three-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* comparison; n=8-14/group; $F_{exercise}(1,70)=1.507$, p=0.2237; $F_{diet}(1,70)=71.46$, p<0.0001; $F_{choice}(1,70)=352.5$,

p<0.0001. (D) Body weight during the food preference test. Two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* comparison; n=8-14/group; $F_{exercise}(1,35)=8.262$, p=0.0068; $F_{diet}(1,35)=20.11$, p<0.0001. Data are represented as mean ± SEM. **p<0.01; ****p < 0.0001.

Prolonged HFD consumption leads to a failure of the VTA to respond to a novel food reward: We next investigated the potential neurobiological impact of prolonged HFD consumption. We focused on the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway because of its established role in hedonic feeding and used c-fos immunohistochemistry to assess changes in activity of this pathway. Following stimulation in VTA neurons, the immediate early gene c-fos is rapidly expressed, allowing for examination of neural activity in this region [92,93]. To assess dietinduced changes in VTA activity during hedonic feeding, SD and HFD raised mice were allowed to consume a novel HFD for 30 minutes. This diet is more energy dense (5.24 vs. 4.73 kcal/g) and higher in fat content (60% kcal vs. 45% kcal) than the diet the HFD-raised animals consumed throughout their life. After consuming the novel 60% kcal HFD diet for 30 minutes, we examined differences in c-fos and tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) expression in the VTA of these animals. TH is the rate-limiting enzyme in the synthesis of dopamine and allows for the demarcation of dopaminergic cells. HFD raised animals exhibited dampened cfos induction in the VTA in response to the novel 60% kcal HFD when compared to the standard chow raised controls [SD=61.56±3.705 vs. HFD=33.67±5.651; p<0.05, Bonferroni multiple comparisons test; n=9-12/group; Fig. 4A]. When compared to animals given a novel SD, SD raised animals given the 60% HFD exhibit marked VTA c-fos induction [SD given SD=16.90±4.868 vs. SD given

HFD=61.56±3.705; p<0.0001, Bonferroni multiple comparisons test; n=9-10/group; Supplemental Fig. 6A], whereas HFD raised animals do not differ in VTA c-fos activity when given either novel SD or HFD [HFD given SD=21.40±7.115 vs. HFD given HFD=33.67±5.651; p=0.3922, Bonferroni multiple comparisons test; n=10-12/group; Supplemental Fig. 6A]. These findings suggest that prolonged HFD consumption leads to a failure of the VTA to respond during hedonic feeding. We observed no effect of diet on the number of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH) positive cells in the VTA, suggesting that prolonged HFD exposure does not alter the number of dopaminergic cells in the VTA [F(2,28)= 1.892; p= 0.1696; n=9-12/group; Fig. 4B]. Interestingly, the observed HFD-induced reduction in VTA activity during palatable feeding is reversed by withdrawing animals from HFD for 4 weeks prior to testing [HFD=33.67±5.651 vs. HFD->SD= 61.70± 10.53; p<0.05, Bonferroni multiple comparisons test; n=10-12/group; Fig. 4A]. Additionally, this reversal appears to be associated with the hypersensitization of VTA dopaminergic cells specifically [F(2,28)=14.18; p <0.0001; n=9-12/group; Fig. 4C]. These findings show that prolonged HFD consumption blunts the response of the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway to rewarding food, but that dieting can restore the response via sensitization of dopamine neurons.



Fig.4. Prolonged HFD consumption leads to a failure of the VTA to respond to a novel food reward. (A) Total number of VTA c-Fos positive cells. One-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* comparison; n=9-12/group; F(2,28)=5.302; p=0.0111. (B) Total number of VTA TH positive cells. One-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* comparison; n=9-12/group; F(2,28)=1.892; p= 0.1696. (C)

Percentage of VTA TH positive cells that are also c-Fos positive. One-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* comparison; n=9-12/group; F(2,28)=14.18; p <0.0001. (D) Representative images of VTA sections stained for c-Fos and TH. Dashed boxes represent corresponding areas of the same section. Arrows indicate c-Fos immunoreactivity. Data are represented as mean ± SEM. *p<0.05; ****p < 0.0001. See also Supplemental Figure 6.



Supplemental Fig.6. Prolonged HFD consumption leads to a failure of the VTA to respond to a novel palatable food reward. VTA dopaminergic neurons respond to a novel palatable food reward in SD raised animals only. (A) Total number of VTA c-Fos positive cells in SD and HFD raised animals given a novel SD (nSD) or novel 60% HFD (nHFD). One-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* comparison; n=9-12/group; F(3,37)=11.70; p <0.0001. (B) Percentage of VTA TH positive cells that are also c-Fos positive in SD and HFD raised animals given a novel SD (nSD) or novel SD (nSD) or novel 60% HFD (nHFD). One-way ANOVA with Bonferroni *post-hoc* comparison; n=9-12/group; F(3,37)=11.70; p <0.0001. (B) Percentage of VTA TH positive cells that are also c-Fos positive in SD and HFD raised animals given a novel SD (nSD) or novel 60% HFD (nHFD).

post-hoc comparison; n=9-12/group; F(3,37)=3.942; p=0.0155. Data are represented as mean ± SEM. *p<0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001; ****p < 0.0001.

Discussion:

Using a novel food preference assay, we have discovered that prolonged consumption of a HFD leads to alterations in feeding behavior and devaluation of a more palatable food choice. Furthermore, we investigated the neurobiological effects of HFD exposure and demonstrated that animals raised on HFD exhibit dampened VTA activity during hedonic feeding. Moreover, we also found that diet-induced behavioral alterations could be reversed via both exercise and dietary change.

Previous work has demonstrated that diet affects feeding behavior, but effects on food preference specifically are poorly understood. Two-bottle choice tests, where animals can freely consume two different solutions (alcohol, water, sucrose, sucralose, etc.), are the most frequently used measure of preference, and are a staple behavioral assessment for anhedonia in rodents [94,95]. Rodents consistently prefer sucrose solutions over water in these tests, and diminished preference for sucrose is widely accepted as a manifestation of anhedonia. HFD consumption has specifically been shown to reduce this preference [58,67,88]. Our study has yielded the same finding (Fig. 1B), however, two-bottle tests do not directly address food preference because they utilize liquids. We designed a food preference assay that would serve to similarly address preference and anhedonia but using solid foods. Animals raised on a HFD exhibited both a reduction in preference for the more calorically dense test chow, as well as decreased consumption of the test chows. These findings echo what has been shown in studies examining the effects of HFD consumption on sucrose preference. Additionally, a recent study demonstrated that prolonged HFD-consumption leads to devaluation of standard chow [60]. Specifically, this study found that when HFD-raised animals were withdrawn from HFD, their intake of the now available SD plummeted compared to SD raised controls. Taken together, these data suggest that prolonged consumption of a HFD leads to anhedonia and subsequent alterations in feeding behavior.

We were surprised to observe that all of our HFD raised cohorts failed to achieve significant weight gain when compared to their SD raised counterparts. This finding appears to contradict what has been demonstrated by other labs using the same HFD [96–99]. However, these labs use SD-fed breeders, and withhold HFD from the offspring until a predetermined time post-weaning. Our mice have access to HFD immediately after birth, and they are born from HFD-fed breeders. We suspect this distinction may be at least partially responsible for the lack of statistically significant weight gain in our animals, and that perhaps our animals are conferred some degree of protection against weight gain during prenatal development. Our lack of significant differences in maintenance diet consumption and fat mass also help explain the lack of significant gain in body weight among our HFD raised cohorts. These findings suggest that the behavioral and neurobiological differences we observe in HFD raised mice can occur independent of an obese phenotype.

Studying mice after 14 weeks of HFD consumption does not address the possibility that shorter periods of exposure to HFD could produce the same behavioral effects. Interestingly, when we restricted the time of access to HFD to just weeks 10-14, the animals exhibited the same behavioral changes during the food preference assay. This suggests that the behavioral effects of HFD can manifest after a shorter period of exposure later in life. Additionally, the effects of HFD on food preference are not permanent and can be reversed via behavioral interventions. We found that switching mice to SD reversed HFD-induced alterations in food preference and test chow intake, while exercise reversed changes in food preference, but not intake. Previous studies have suggested that exercising regularly produces changes in the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway [78,81,82]. One such study showed that 8 weeks of treadmill running in mice was sufficient to restore dampened VTA tyrosine hydroxylase and NAc dopamine levels following prolonged HFD consumption [82]. We suspect that similar neurological alterations are responsible for our observed behavioral findings. The ability of exercise to reverse changes in food preference independent of intake is noteworthy because it suggests that the two behavioral phenotypes, diminished food preference and food intake, are separable. Specifically, HFD-induced dampening of preference for the more calorically dense test chow may not simply be due to reduced intake of the test chows.

In our efforts to elucidate the potential neurobiological mechanism underlying the effects of HFD consumption on food choice, we found that the neural response of the VTA of HFD-raised animals was dampened during

consumption of the novel HFD chow compared to the VTA of animals raised on standard lab chow. Previous work has shown that HFD-raised animals exhibit blunted dopamine release into the NAc during exposure to a novel palatable food, which parallels these findings [49]. Interestingly, prolonged HFD consumption did not appear to influence the activity of the VTA dopaminergic neurons specifically. However, the VTA also contains non-dopaminergic glutamatergic and GABAergic neuronal subpopulations [100]. These subpopulations are likely where we are observing the bulk of the changes in VTA activity. Interestingly, we found that dieting resulted in a sensitized VTA response to the novel HFD, and this response occurred specifically in the dopaminergic neurons. Such a finding mirrors sensitization and relapse responses to drugs of abuse in the same neural circuit [90]. In summary, our results suggest that prolonged HFD consumption dampens the activity of the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway, but dieting can reverse this through sensitization of VTA dopaminergic neurons.

In conclusion, our research indicates that prolonged consumption of a HFD leads to alterations in food preference that are associated with HFDinduced changes in reward circuitry. These alterations in food preference are reversible via dieting and exercise. Further study is needed to elucidate the neurobiological mechanisms by which dieting, and exercise reverse HFDinduced changes in food preference. Based on the dampened neuronal activity in the VTA of HFD-raised mice, we suspect remodeling of mesolimbic dopamine signaling is the responsible mechanism. Additionally, our data suggest HFD- induced changes in food preference and consumption are separable.

Specifically, exercise restored food preference but not the dampened test chow consumption. This disparity suggests that prolonged HFD consumption could be exerting its effects on food preference through one mechanism, while altering intake through another. This distinction demonstrates how multifaceted the influence of HFD over feeding behavior is, but also suggests there may be multiple avenues to target therapeutically.

Acknowledgments:

We are thankful for technical assistance from Elena Tenore, Laila Al Rawi, Darian Kaviani, Qi Zhang, Qijun Tang, Sean Chadwick, and Ryan Grippo. We are also very grateful for manuscript feedback from Brandon Podyma, Christopher Deppmann, Ignacio Provencio, Wendy Lynch, Michael Scott, and Savannah Altherr. This work was supported by the NIH National Institute of General Medicinal Sciences [R01GM121937] (A.D.G.).

Author Contributions:

Everett Altherr, Aundrea Rainwater, and Ali D. Güler conceived and designed all experiments. Everett Altherr performed the two bottle choice, exercise, and c-Fos experiments. Aundrea Rainwater performed the original preference experiment, as well as the HFD withdrawal/4 week access experiments. Darian Kaviani assisted with all experiments. Qijun Tang devised the exercise quantification methodology and assisted with both that experiment and statistical analysis. Everett Altherr wrote the manuscript with input from all co-authors.

<u>Ch. 3:</u> Midbrain Dopamine-1 Receptor Overexpression Fails to Restore Diet-Induced Perturbations in Food Preference

The following chapter is comprised of unpublished data collected throughout my graduate career.

Abstract:

In the previous chapter, I demonstrated that long-term HFD consumption diminishes preference for and consumption of more calorically dense food in a novel food preference assay. In addition, I discovered that HFD consumption perturbs mesolimbic dopamine signaling by causing the VTA to fail to respond to a novel food reward. The aim of this chapter is to better characterize the role of dopamine signaling in mediating food preference, and to determine if modulation of that signaling can reverse HFD-induced alterations in food preference/choice. Here I find that a global, but not NAc specific, knock-out of D1R leads to a decreased preference for the more palatable food choice in the food preference assay. In addition, I demonstrate that overexpression of NAc D1R in mice raised on a HFD fails to reverse the diet-induced alterations in food preference and consumption discussed in the previous chapter. These findings suggest that D1R is crucial for intact food preference, but insufficient for reversing HFD-induced impairments in food choice.

Introduction:

Obesity is a costly epidemic that claims an escalating number of lives every year [101]. Despite its complex etiology, a universally accepted factor in the development of obesity is the daily overconsumption of calories stemming from dietary choices that are high in fat and sugar [3,102]. The consumption of these foods is promoted by the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway, which functions to convey the salience and rewarding properties of these foods [8–11]. The mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway plays a major role in many other components of feeding behavior, such as facilitating the formation of learned associations between food and cues in the environment, as well as motivating organisms to seek out food [11,45]. Despite its widespread role in mediating several aspects of feeding behavior, the manner in which mesolimbic dopamine signaling influences food preference remains to be elucidated.

Mesolimbic dopamine signaling has long been understood to play a key role in reward processing, and food reward is no exception. Dopamine exerts its effects by binding to one of five dopamine receptor subtypes. These receptors are expressed throughout the brain to facilitate movement, learning and memory, and impulse control [103]. Of the five receptor subtypes, types 1 (D1R) and 2 (D2R) are the most well characterized in relation to feeding, and both are expressed in the NAc [104,105]. For example, blockade of either subtype has been shown to disrupt food intake, and activation of NAc D2 receptors is associated with cessation of binge-eating [104]. Additionally, studies have demonstrated that dampened D2R levels are associated with obesity, but this is typically attributed to changes in energy expenditure instead of appetitive/consummatory processes [106,107]. Lastly, NAc D1R expression is regulated in response to HFD consumption [48–50,52]. Despite the connection

between HFD consumption and D1R, the potential for D1R modulation to reverse diet-induced perturbations in feeding behavior has yet to be elucidated.

Because of the established role of D1R in feeding behavior in general, and the potential for it to be dysregulated by HFD, I investigated the following hypotheses in this chapter: (1) knocking out D1R in mice raised on SD disrupts preference for the more calorically enriched food choice in our novel food preference assay, and (2) overexpression of D1R in the NAc of mice raised on HFD reverses the diet-induced perturbations in food preference demonstrated in the previous chapter. To test these hypotheses, I used a combination of transgenic mouse lines and viral vectors to manipulate D1R levels under different conditions. In addition, I assessed behavior using the food preference assay introduced in the previous chapter to examine the preference between and consumption of two novel food substrates. I discovered that a global KO of D1R leads to a diminished preference for the more palatable choice in the food preference assay, but a NAc specific KO of D1R fails to replicate this change. In addition, selectively restoring D1R expression to the NAc of global D1R KO animals fails to restore preference to wild-type levels. Lastly, overexpressing D1R in the NAc of animals raised on a HFD fails to reverse the diet-induced perturbations in food preference and test chow consumption demonstrated in the previous chapter. These findings demonstrate that D1R expression as a whole, but not specifically in the NAc, is essential for intact food preference, implicating a novel role for dopamine signaling in feeding behavior. A summary table of all findings can be found at the end of the chapter.

Materials and Methods:

Animals: All experiments complied with NIH animal care and use guidelines, and were approved by the University of Virginia Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee. Male mice were housed on a 12-hour light/dark cycle (lights on between 7am and 7pm), in standard ventilated cages with corncob bedding, cotton nesting material (Nestlets[™], Ancare, Bellmore, NY, USA) and a paper soufflé cup (product F400, Genpak, Charlotte, NC). C57BL/6 breeder mice were originally obtained from The Jackson Laboratory (Bar Harbor, ME, USA). In addition to wild-type C57BL6 mice, the following mouse lines were used: *D1R^{Cre/Cre}* (D1R-KO), *D1R*^{+/+} (WT), and *Floxed-D1R^{lox/lox}* (FD1R). Experimental transgenic mice were bred in-house using heterozygotes obtained from the University of Washington (D1R^{Cre/+}) or Jackson Laboratory (Floxed- $D1R^{lox/+}$) that were then backcrossed to C57BL/6 mice for at least 20 generations. Maintenance diets were furnished to both breeders and offspring except where acute dietary treatment is specified. All experiments took place using male mice, and all experimental mice were habituated to individual housing for at least 3 days prior to intake procedures. All behavioral tests and tissue collections took place at 14 weeks of age.

<u>Diets Used:</u> All mice with the exception of HFD-raised animals in the D1R overexpression experiment received *Envigo* (Huntingdon, United Kingdom) product 8664 *Teklad F6 Rodent Diet* (standard diet, 3.1 kcal/g; 19% fat, 31% protein, 50% carbohydrates). Mice on HFD in the D1R overexpression experiment received: *Research Diets Open Source Diets* (Research Diets, New Brunswick, NJ, USA) product D12451 (OS red, 4.73 kcal/g; 45% fat, 20% protein, 35% carbohydrates).

Food Preference Test: Mice were habituated to 2 novel test chows for 3 days prior to the preference test. During this habituation period, test chows were provided on the cage floor and maintenance diet remained in the wire cage top. At the start of the preference test, mice were weighed, the maintenance diet was withdrawn, and the test chows (~20 g of each) were weighed and added to the cage floor. Remaining test chow and animal body weights were recorded again 24 hr later. Consumption of each test chow for every animal was divided by that animal's body weight corresponding to the start of the 24 hour test period. Preference scores were calculated as the portion of total test chow consumed corresponding to the more energy enriched test chow. Novel test chows used during 24 hr food choice tests were as follows: Bio-Serv (Flemington, NJ, USA) Product F3028 Rodent Diet Grain-Based Control (BS F3028, 3.35 kcal/g; 13%) fat, 29% protein, 58% carbohydrates) versus *Bio-Serv (Flemington, NJ, USA)* Product F3156 Rodent Diet AIN-93G (BS F3156, 3.74 kcal/g; 17% fat, 19% protein, 64% carbohydrates). Both of these diets were selected because they are contrasting in color with respect to the animals' bedding, and are lower in energy and fat content compared to the diet the HFD animals were raised on. Bedding was thoroughly searched for test chow crumbs when weighing test chows at the conclusion of the test.

<u>Stereotaxic Surgery and Viral Expression</u>: Prior to and during surgery, mice were anesthetized using isoflurane (induction 5%, maintenance 2%–2.5%;

Isothesia) and placed in a stereotaxic apparatus (Kopf). Ocular lubrication was applied to both eyes to aid in preventing desiccation. Throughout the surgery and during recovery mice were placed on a heating pad to maintain body temperature. For the D1R-KO rescue and HFD overexpression experiments, bilateral injections of adeno-associated viruses (AAV) that cre-dependently express hemagglutinin (HA)-tagged D1R or green-fluorescent protein (GFP)tagged ChR2 (control group) were delivered to the NAc. For the NAc specific D1R-KO experiment, bilateral injections of AAV containing cre-recombinase or GFP (control) were delivered to the NAc. AAV was injected using a 10 mL syringe (Hamilton) and 26-gauge needle (Hamilton) at a flow rate of 100 nl/min driven by a microsyringe pump controller (World Precision Instruments, model Micro 4). Following injections, the needle was left in place for 10 min and was completely withdrawn 20 min after delivery of the virus. After surgery, mice were given ketoprofen (3 mg/kg) subcutaneously as an analgesic. Animals were behaviorally assessed at four weeks post viral administration to ensure optimal transgene expression. All surgical procedures were performed in sterile conditions and in accordance with University of Virginia IACUC guidelines.

<u>Statistics:</u> Statistical analysis was performed using *Prism GraphPad* software. Data are presented as means \pm standard error of the mean (s.e.m.). All statistical analyses were performed using student's t-tests. Complete statistical results are included within the text.

Results:

<u>Global dopamine-1 receptor knock out diminishes preference for a more</u> <u>palatable food choice:</u> *Note: this specific experiment was initially conceived by Aundrea Rainwater, and the data/findings contained herein were collected by myself as a replication of her original experiment.*

To investigate the role of D1R-dependent signaling in mediating food preference, I used SD-raised mice in which both D1R alleles were replaced by cre-recombinase, resulting in knockout of D1R (Dopamine receptor type 1^{cre/cre}; D1R^{cre/cre}) [Fig 1A]. These mice were assessed on their preference between the two test chows in the food preference assay. Similar to what was observed in HFD-raised animals in the previous chapter, D1R-KO mice exhibited diminished preference for the more calorically-enriched test chow [t=3.353, p<0.01, df=16]; n=8-10/group; Fig.1B] and a trend towards decreased overall test chow consumption normalized for body weight [t=2.083, p=0.0537, df=16; n=8-10/group; Fig.1C] compared to wild-type controls. D1R-KO mice were also significantly lighter than their wild-type counterparts [t=3.150, p<0.01, df=16; n=8-10/group; Fig.1D], however this observation is unsurprising since this mouse strain has previously been characterized as smaller than wild-type controls [108]. Taken together, these findings demonstrate that D1R-dependent dopamine signaling is critical for intact food preference.



Fig.1. Global dopamine-1 receptor knock out diminishes preference for a more palatable food choice. (A) Schematic illustrating food preference experimental setup. (B) Preference for the more energy dense test chow during the food preference test. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=8-10/group. (C) Total amount of both test chows consumed during the food preference test corrected for body weight. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=8-10/group. (D) Body weight during the food preference test. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=8-10/group. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. **p < 0.01.

NAc-specific D1R-KO has no effect on food preference, and NAc D1R rescue fails to restore food preference in global D1R-KO mice: To further characterize the role of D1R-mediated signaling in food preference and choice, I used the cre-lox system to knock out D1R in the NAc of FD1R mice. FD1R mice were injected with cre-recombinase-expressing AAV or GFP-expressing AAV (control) targeted to the NAc and given four weeks of recovery to allow adequate viral expression before partaking in the food preference assay [Fig. 2A]. Unlike the global D1R-KO mice, NAc-specific D1R-KO animals did not exhibit any impairments in food preference [t=0.3733, p=0.7138, df=16; n=9/group; Fig.2B] or total test chow consumption [t=0.5020, p=0.6225, df=16; n=9/group; Fig.2C] in the assay. Additionally, NAc-specific D1R-KOs do not exhibit the diminished body weight observed in global D1R-KO mice [t=0.1049, p=0.9178, df=16; n=9/group; Fig.2D]. These findings suggest that while D1R signaling as a whole is important for food preference, dampening of that signaling in the NAc specifically is insufficient to induce impairments in preference.

In order to continue to investigate the role of NAc D1R in food choice, I further utilized the cre-lox system to attempt a viral restoration of D1R to the NAc of the global D1R-KO mice. D1R-KO mice were injected with adeno-associated viruses that cre-dependently express hemagglutinin (HA)-tagged D1R, or ChR2-GFP (control) to the NAc. Mice were given four weeks of recovery to ensure adequate viral expression before engaging in the food preference assay [Fig. 3A]. Re-expression of D1R to the NAc of global D1R-KO mice failed to restore preference for the more energy-dense test chow in the food preference assay [t=0.5798, p=0.5713, df=14; n=8/group; Fig.3B]. These mice also did not differ from global D1R-Kos in terms of total amount of test chow consumed during the food preference test [t=1.078, p=0.2994, df=14; n=8/group; Fig.3C]. or body weight [t=1.119, p=0.2819, df=14; n=8/group; Fig.3D]. This failure to restore food preference in these animals suggests that NAc D1R on its own is not sufficient for intact food preference. When considered alongside the fact that NAc-specific KO of D1R failed to impair food preference, these findings together suggest that NAc D1R signaling individually is not necessary for mediation of food preference.



Fig.2. NAc specific dopamine-1 receptor knock out fails to diminish preference for a more palatable food choice. (A) Schematic illustrating food preference experimental setup. (B) Preference for the more energy dense test chow during

the food preference test. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=9/group. (C) Total amount of both test chows consumed during the food preference test corrected for body weight. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=9/group. (D) Body weight during the food preference test. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=9/group. (E) Representative immunohistochemistry images of NAc D1R expression in control animals (left) and animals receiving cre-recombinase injections (right). Red staining is indicative of D1R expression using D1R-specific antibodies. aca=anterior commissure. Data are represented as mean ± SEM. **p < 0.01.



Fig.3. Viral restoration of D1R to the NAc of global D1R-KO mice fails to rescue preference for a more palatable food choice. (A) Schematic illustrating food preference experimental setup. (B) Preference for the more energy dense test chow during the food preference test. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=8/group. (C) Total amount of both test chows consumed during the food preference test corrected for body weight. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=8/group. (D) Body weight during the food preference test. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=8/group. (E) Representative immunohistochemistry images of NAc D1R re-expression in control animals (left) and animals receiving FD1R injections (right). Red staining is indicative of viral D1R re-expression using HA-D1R-specific antibodies. aca=anterior commissure. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. **p < 0.01.

NAc D1R overexpression fails to reverse diet-induced alterations in food

preference in HFD-raised mice: In the previous chapter, I demonstrated that prolonged HFD consumption leads to a dampened VTA response to novel food reward as well as a diminished preference for and consumption of the more palatable test chow in the food preference assay. In order to further investigate the link between prolonged HFD consumption, mesolimbic dopamine signaling, and food preference, I utilized the cre-lox system to virally overexpress D1R in the NAc of HFD-raised D1R-Cre heterozygous animals [Fig. 4A]. I was surprised to observe that HFD-raised mice with NAc D1R expression exhibited further impaired food preference compared to control injected mice [t=2.432, p<0.05, df=20; n=8-14/group; Fig.4B]. In addition, NAc D1R overexpression failed to reverse HFD-induced alterations in test chow consumption during the food preference assay [t=0.007230, p=0.9943, df=20; n=8-14/group; Fig.4C]. These findings indicate that modulation of mesolimbic D1R expression is insufficient for reversing HFD-induced alterations in feeding behavior. FD1R injected HFD-raised mice additionally did not differ from controls in terms of bodyweight [t=0.9660, p=0.3456, df=20; n=8-14/group; Fig.4D].

In addition to conducting the experiment in HFD-raised mice, I repeated these manipulations in mice raised on SD in order to determine if midbrain D1R modulation could affect food preference under "baseline" (non-HFD background) conditions [Supplemental Fig. 1A]. NAc D1R overexpression had no effect on preference for the more palatable test chow [t=1.829, p=0.0832, df=19; n=10-11/group; Supplemental Fig.1B], total test chow consumption [t=0.5749, p=0.5721, df=19; n=10-11/group; Supplemental Fig.1C], or bodyweight [t=1.564, p=0.1343, df=19; n=10-11/group; Supplemental Fig.1D]. When considered in conjunction with the lack of effects on preference and consumption observed in the NAc D1R KO experiment, these findings indicate that modulation of NAc D1R alone is insufficient to alter food preference under typical dietary conditions.



Fig.4. Viral overexpression of D1R to the NAc of HFD-raised mice fails to rescue preference for a more palatable food choice or total test chow consumption. (A) Schematic illustrating food preference experimental setup. (B) Preference for the more energy dense test chow during the food preference test. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=8-14/group. (C) Total amount of both test chows consumed during the food preference test corrected for body weight. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=8-14/group. (D) Body weight during the food preference test. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=8-14/group. (E) Representative immunohistochemistry images of NAc D1R overexpression in control animals (left) and animals receiving FD1R injections (right). Red staining is indicative of viral D1R overexpression using HA-D1R-specific antibodies. aca=anterior commissure. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM. *p < 0.05. See also Supplemental Figure 1.



Supplemental Fig.1. Viral overexpression of D1R to the NAc of SD-raised mice has no effect on preference for a more palatable food choice or total test chow consumption. (A) Schematic illustrating food preference experimental setup. (B) Preference for the more energy dense test chow during the food preference test. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=10-11/group. (C) Total amount of both test chows consumed during the food preference test corrected for body weight. Student's

two-tailed t-test; n=10-11/group. (D) Body weight during the food preference test. Student's two-tailed t-test; n=10-11/group. Data are represented as mean \pm SEM.

Discussion:

In this chapter I used transgenic and viral techniques in combination with my labs' novel food preference assay to further investigate the role of mesolimbic dopamine signaling and HFD consumption in food choice. Using a global D1R-KO mouse, I discovered that D1R signaling as a whole is critical for intact food valuation, but that modulation of NAc D1R expression specifically fails to affect food preference or consumption (Table 1). In addition, I found that NAc D1R overexpression fails to reverse the HFD-mediated alterations in feeding behavior demonstrated in chapter 2 (Table 1).

Dopamine signaling has been implicated in mediating and influencing multiple facets of feeding behavior such as food-related learning, hedonic evaluation, and food-seeking [8–10]. However, its role in mediating food preference and choice remains a mystery. To further investigate the role of dopamine signaling in food preference, I chose to focus on D1R because of this receptor's specialized function in mediating learned associations between rewarding food and its associated stimuli and cues [26,31,109]. I opted to conduct this experiment in SD-raised animals in order to focus on the role of D1R in food preference independent of background dietary effects and to establish a better understanding of how this circuitry works under baseline conditions. I discovered that mice lacking D1R demonstrated diminished preference for the more palatable chow in the choice assay. Because of this, I can infer that the

ability to associate rewarding food with its respective sensory properties is likely critical for the establishment of the food preferences and choices that lead to overindulgence in calorically dense foods. These data suggest that dopamine signaling plays a key role in food preference, and this is at least partially mediated by D1R.

I was surprised to discover that knocking out D1R in the NAc alone failed to elicit the same effect on food choice as a full D1R knockout. In addition, it was equally perplexing when my attempt to selectively restore expression of D1R to the NAc of global KO mice failed to rescue food preference. In spite of these findings, there are several possible explanations for why these manipulations fail to implicate NAc specific D1R expression on its own as critical for food preference. An important consideration is the fact that D1R is expressed widely throughout the brain, including in the prefrontal cortex, basolateral amygdala, hypothalamus, and dorsal striatum [110,111]. Moreover, D1R expression in the neurons of several of these regions has been implicated in affecting feeding behavior [112,113]. Therefore, it is possible that in the event of perturbation of D1R in one brain region (in this case the NAc), subsequent effects on food preference could be masked by compensatory mechanisms mediated by D1R elsewhere in the brain. This possibility would explain why a global D1R-KO is able to manifest a behavioral phenotype and a NAc-KO is not. Additionally, restoring D1R to just one of these regions (i.e. the NAc) may be insufficient in reversing the impaired preference in the global D1R-KO mice. Relatedly, it is impossible to determine how much D1R I was successfully able to remove from

the NAc using the chosen methodology of a viral cre-recombinase injection. It is possible that only a small amount of NAc D1R need be expressed for intact food preference, as the dynamics between specific D1R expression levels and maintenance of specific feeding behaviors such as preference are largely unknown.

In the previous chapter, I demonstrated that prolonged HFD consumption disrupts food preference and consumption during the food preference assay, and perturbs mesolimbic dopamine signaling by desensitizing the response of the VTA to a novel food reward. Prior studies have demonstrated that long-term HFD consumption is capable of altering NAc D1R levels [48–50,52]. In an attempt to further elucidate the mechanism by which HFD disrupts food preference, and to investigate a potential way to reverse it, I overexpressed D1R in the NAc of HFDraised mice. I was initially surprised to discover that this manipulation failed to restore the HFD-induced perturbations in food preference and test chow consumption, and worsened preference even further. However, these findings are reinforced by my discovery that prolonged HFD consumption leads to an overall blunted response of the VTA to a novel HFD, and that the dopaminergic neurons of the VTA in these animals fail to respond to a novel HFD compared to a novel SD. Namely, if consuming a HFD leads to a failure of the VTA to respond to a food reward, then it follows that amplifying D1R downstream would not be sufficient to ameliorate feeding deficits since the upstream signal is no longer intact. It is also reasonable to suspect that increasing NAc D1R levels could lead to an additional diminishment of VTA dopamine signaling as a feedback

response. This could explain the enhanced deficit in food preference exhibited by these mice.

In conclusion, my research in this chapter indicates that D1R expression is critical for intact food preference. In addition, a deficit in NAc D1R alone is not sufficient to recapitulate the disturbances in food choice that a global D1R-KO elicits. Similarly, NAc D1R signaling on its own is insufficient for restoring intact food preference to global D1R-KO mice. This disparity suggests that there may be D1R-mediated compensatory mechanisms that can accommodate for D1R signaling deficiencies in the NAc or elsewhere. However, it remains clear that intact D1R expression throughout the brain is essential for maintaining food preference/valuation. In addition, overexpression of D1R in the NAc fails to reverse HFD-mediated deficits in food choice. When examined in tandem with the findings from chapter two, this suggests that the most efficacious avenue for targeting these diet-induced deficiencies could be via bolstering VTA activity upstream in the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway.

Genotype	Experiment	Diet	Injection	Preference	Consumption
C57BL6J	Ch.2: Fig.1	SD	-	-	-
C57BL6J	Ch.2: Fig.1	HFD	-	Ļ	Ļ
D1RCre+/+	Ch.3: Fig.1	SD	-	-	-
D1RCre ^{Cre/Cre}	Ch.3: Fig.1	SD	-	Ļ	-
D1RCre ^{Cre/Cre}	Ch.3: Fig.3	SD	ChR2	Ļ	-
D1RCre ^{Cre/Cre}	Ch.3: Fig.3	SD	FD1R	Ļ	-

FD1R ^{lox/lox}	Ch.3: Fig.2	SD	EGFP	-	-
FD1R ^{lox/lox}	Ch.3: Fig.2	SD	Cre	-	-
D1RCre ^{Cre/+}	Ch.3: Fig.4	HFD	ChR2	\downarrow	\downarrow
D1RCre ^{Cre/+}	Ch.3: Fig.4	HFD	FD1R	$\downarrow\downarrow$	\downarrow
D1RCre ^{Cre/+}	Ch.3: S.Fig.1	SD	ChR2	-	-
D1RCre ^{Cre/+}	Ch.3: S.Fig.1	SD	FD1R	-	-

Table 1: Summary of findings from chapter 3. Arrows are indicative of deviationsfrom phenotypes observed in C57BL6 mice raised on SD (first row).

<u>Ch. 4:</u> Conclusions and Future Directions

The obesity epidemic currently poses one of the greatest challenges to researchers and healthcare providers due to its complex etiology, prevalence, associated costs, and potential for lethality. It is well established that a significant factor in both the etiology and perpetuation of an obese phenotype is the overconsumption of palatable, calorically-enriched foods. The role of the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway in promoting the overconsumption of these foods is continually under investigation. However, the manner in which mesolimbic dopamine signaling responds to continued energy-dense diet consumption and how this alters future behavior remains poorly understood. The goal of this dissertation has been to better understand this link between diet, neural circuitry, and subsequent behavior.

Attempts to characterize feeding behavior and its underlying neural circuitry are considered daunting tasks. This is due to the complex nature of both the behavioral processes comprising "feeding" and the instantiation of those processes within the brain. In order to study feeding behavior, researchers have grown accustomed to focusing on studying individual facets of feeding using specific assays. Common examples of these assays include operant chambers with progressive ratio schedules of food reinforcement for the study of the motivation to work for food, or the conditioned place preference task for assessing food-associated memory formation [114,115]. In this dissertation I have focused primarily on assessing food choice and preference, an often neglected component of feeding behavior. To this end, our lab has designed a

novel food preference assay for assessing changes in food choice under a variety of conditions.

In chapter 3, we illustrated how critical intact D1R-mediated dopamine signaling is for mediating food preference. However, we were surprised to find that knocking D1R out of the NAc specifically or attempting to selectively reexpress D1R in the NAc of global D1R-KO mice failed to implicate NAc D1R in food preference. As discussed in chapter 3, there are several possible explanations for these findings. The explanation that provides the most investigatory potential is the notion that D1R expression in other brain regions has been implicated in feeding behavior [112,113]. D1R is highly expressed in the prefrontal cortex (PFC), and the VTA projections to this region (mesocortical dopamine signaling pathway, see Box 1) are known for their role in mediating executive function and working memory [116–119]. Although its role in food preference hasn't been addressed, PFC D1R has been implicated in food intake, palatable food seeking, and learned associations between food and specific stimuli [113,120–122]. In addition, D1R is expressed in the amygdala and receives dopaminergic innervation from the VTA [123,124]. Food consumption has been shown to lead to elevated intra-amygdala dopamine levels, and D1R therein has been shown to play a role in mediating food seeking and food-related learning [125–127]. Although these examples don't explicitly address D1R and food preference specifically, they demonstrate that D1R expression in other brain regions exerts control over other food-related behaviors. This suggests that there

may exist the potential for D1R outside the NAc to both play a role in mediating food preference, and to compensate for any NAc-specific D1R deficits.

We have demonstrated that in the context of HFD consumption, our food preference assay functions similarly to sucrose preference tests. These tests are commonly used to assess anhedonia and reward devaluation in rodents [58,67,88,128]. Our lab's HFD-raised mice exhibit diminished preference for the more palatable test chow, and an overall reduction in test chow consumption during the food preference assay (chapter 2). Because these mice also exhibit an analogous reduction in preference for sucrose and blunted fluid consumption in the sucrose preference test, it could be inferred that mice consuming HFD for an extended period of time are experiencing some degree of anhedonia that shapes food choices/preference. Indeed, in both humans and rodents, obesity and depressive symptomology (such as anhedonia) are often comorbid [129,130]. Furthermore, anhedonia on its own is associated with reward circuitry dysfunction in both rodents and humans [131,132]. In chapter 2 I demonstrated that HFD-raised mice exhibit a dampened VTA response to food reward, implicating HFD in disrupting the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway. Additionally, chapter 3 illustrates how critical intact D1R expression is for food preference. Therefore, it is plausible that prolonged HFD consumption promotes anhedonia via perturbations in reward circuitry, which then manifests as alterations in food preference and choice.

In an effort to attempt to reverse the diet-induced alterations in feeding behavior observed in the food preference assay, we tried several approaches.
These included modulating D1R levels, switching animals' diets, or letting them exercise. I attempted to modulate dopamine signaling by overexpressing D1R in the NAc of HFD-raised mice. As discussed in chapter 3, this manipulation failed to reverse HFD-induced alterations in feeding behavior during the preference assay. I suspect that these findings are due to the fact that HFD raised animals have impairments in VTA activity during hedonic feeding (chapter 2). Namely, if the VTA is not functioning properly during feeding, then it stands to reason that altering the signal downstream in the NAc could be insufficient to restore intact behavior. Therefore, future work should focus on VTA manipulations in food preference, as it may be a more promising locus for therapeutic potential.

Although overexpressing NAc D1R failed to restore food preference following HFD exposure, allowing animals to access a running disc for 4 weeks successfully reversed HFD-induced alterations in food preference. As discussed extensively in chapter 1, exercise has been shown to promote plasticity of the mesolimbic dopamine signaling pathway, including in animals consuming a HFD [78,81,82]. These studies implicate VTA function as a key target in exercisemediated neural plasticity. When considered alongside the fact that the HFDraised animals examined in this dissertation exhibit perturbed VTA activity, I believe that exercise-mediated plasticity in the VTA is responsible for the behavioral reversal observed in chapter 2. Specifically, I believe allowing HFDraised animals to exercise for four weeks leads to a restoration of VTA sensitivity to food reward, which in turn is responsible for the observed rescue of preference for the more palatable food chow in the preference assay. My lab is currently following up on this by examining c-fos induction as described in chapter 2, but in HFD-raised animals that have been allowed to exercise. In addition, although this dissertation has established D1R-mediated signaling as crucial for food preference, future work will need to focus on explicitly establishing the activity of the VTA as a key mediator of preference during the assay.

There are several avenues to investigate the role of VTA dopamine signaling in food preference that could be pursued by our lab alone or in collaboration with others. First, we could ablate VTA dopaminergic projections to the NAc using 6-hydroxydopamine in SD raised mice and test their performance in the food preference assay. 6-hydroxydopamine is a synthetic toxin that targets dopamine neurons by entering the dopamine transporter, and when used to destroy VTA to NAc dopamine projections, it has been shown to disrupt rodents' motivation to work for food reward [10]. I believe that this manipulation would also disrupt preference for the more palatable test chow in the food preference assay – much like what we observe with our global D1R-KO animals. Alternatively, we could utilize an optogenetic or chemogenetic approach to silence VTA to NAc dopamine projections during the food preference assay. Once these methods have been utilized to establish the importance of VTA dopamine signaling for food preference specifically, they can be applied to a HFD context to attempt to rescue diet-induced perturbations in food preference. Specifically, optogenetic and chemogenetic approaches could be utilized to amplify VTA dopamine neuron activity in HFD-raised animals during the food preference assay. The experiments in chapter 2 established that VTA activity is

diminished in HFD-raised animals during consumption of a palatable food reward. Thus, if we establish the VTA as essential for intact food preference, I expect that amplifying VTA dopamine signaling in HFD raised animals would be sufficient to restore their food preference. These findings would explicitly implicate VTA dysfunction as a key mediator of HFD-mediated deficiencies in food preference.

The work contained within this dissertation provides a novel account of the manner in which HFD consumption can alter neurobiological function and subsequent feeding behavior. Our findings implicate VTA functionality as a target of HFD as evidenced by reduced VTA activity during hedonic feeding in HFD-raised animals. In addition, by demonstrating that HFD-induced alterations in food preference are reversible via both dieting and exercise, this dissertation provides several avenues for future study of interventions with therapeutic potential.

References:

- [1] Obesity and overweight, (n.d.). https://www.who.int/news-room/factsheets/detail/obesity-and-overweight (accessed July 30, 2021).
- T.G. 2015 O. Collaborators, Health Effects of Overweight and Obesity in 195 Countries over 25 Years, Https://Doi.Org/10.1056/NEJMoa1614362.
 377 (2017) 13–27. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1614362.
- J.J. Reilly, E. Methven, Z.C. McDowell, B. Hacking, D. Alexander, L.
 Stewart, C.J.H. Kelnar, Health consequences of obesity, Arch. Dis. Child.
 88 (2003) 748–752. https://doi.org/10.1136/adc.88.9.748.
- [4] Obesity: A global economic issue | VOX, CEPR Policy Portal, (n.d.).
 https://voxeu.org/article/obesity-global-economic-issue (accessed July 30, 2021).
- [5] FAOSTAT, (n.d.). http://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data/FBS (accessed July 30, 2021).
- [6] C.E. Cox, Role of physical activity for weight loss and weight maintenance, Diabetes Spectr. 30 (2017) 157–160. https://doi.org/10.2337/ds17-0013.
- [7] M.A. McCrory, V.M.M. Suen, S.B. Roberts, Biobehavioral influences on energy intake and adult weight gain, in: J. Nutr., American Institute of Nutrition, 2002. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/132.12.3830s.
- [8] H. Yang, J.W. de Jong, Y.E. Tak, J. Peck, H.S. Bateup, S. Lammel,Nucleus Accumbens Subnuclei Regulate Motivated Behavior via Direct

Inhibition and Disinhibition of VTA Dopamine Subpopulations, Neuron. 97 (2018) 434-449.e4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2017.12.022.

- [9] A. Hajnal, G.P. Smith, R. Norgren, Oral sucrose stimulation increases accumbens dopamine in the rat, Am. J. Physiol. - Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 286 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpregu.00282.2003.
- J.D. Salamone, A. Wisniecki, B.B. Carlson, M. Correa, Nucleus accumbens dopamine depletions make animals highly sensitive to high fixed ratio requirements but do not impair primary food reinforcement, Neuroscience. 105 (2001) 863–870. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(01)00249-4.
- [11] H.D. Brown, J.E. Mccutcheon, J.J. Cone, M.E. Ragozzino, M.F. Roitman, Primary food reward and reward-predictive stimuli evoke different patterns of phasic dopamine signaling throughout the striatum, Eur. J. Neurosci. 34 (2011) 1997–2006. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2011.07914.x.
- [12] A.J. Tulloch, S. Murray, R. Vaicekonyte, N.M. Avena, Neural responses to macronutrients: Hedonic and homeostatic mechanisms, Gastroenterology.
 148 (2015) 1205–1218. https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2014.12.058.
- M.A. Rossi, G.D. Stuber, Overlapping Brain Circuits for Homeostatic and Hedonic Feeding, Cell Metab. 27 (2018) 42–56.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cmet.2017.09.021.
- G. Morton, D.E. Cummings, D. Baskin, G. Barsh, M.W. Schwartz, Central nervous system control of food intake and body weight, Nature. 443 (2006) 289–295. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE05026.

- [15] R. Cone, Anatomy and regulation of the central melanocortin system, Nat. Neurosci. 8 (2005) 571–578. https://doi.org/10.1038/NN1455.
- [16] L. Varela, T. Horvath, Leptin and insulin pathways in POMC and AgRP neurons that modulate energy balance and glucose homeostasis, EMBO Rep. 13 (2012) 1079–1086. https://doi.org/10.1038/EMBOR.2012.174.
- H.D. Janowitz, M.I. Grossman, EFFECT OF VARIATIONS IN NUTRITIVE
 DENSITY ON INTAKE OF FOOD OF DOGS AND RATS,
 Https://Doi.Org/10.1152/Ajplegacy.1949.158.2.184. 158 (1949) 184–193.
 https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPLEGACY.1949.158.2.184.
- H.L. Jacobs, K.N. Sharma, TASTE VERSUS CALORIES: SENSORY AND METABOLIC SIGNALS IN THE CONTROL OF FOOD INTAKE*, Ann. N.
 Y. Acad. Sci. 157 (1969) 1084–1125. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1749-6632.1969.TB12939.X.
- [19] J. Krebs, Optimal foraging: theory and experiment, Nat. 1977 2685621.
 268 (1977) 583–584. https://doi.org/10.1038/268583a0.
- [20] W.C. Lemon, Fitness consequences of foraging behaviour in the zebra finch, Nat. 1991 3526331. 352 (1991) 153–155.
 https://doi.org/10.1038/352153a0.
- [21] D.W. Haslam, W.P.T. James, Obesity, Lancet. 366 (2005) 1197–1209.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(05)67483-1.
- [22] A. Drewnowski, V.L. Fulgoni, Nutrient density: principles and evaluation

tools, Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 99 (2014) 1223S-1228S. https://doi.org/10.3945/AJCN.113.073395.

- [23] D.G. Liem, C.G. Russell, The Influence of Taste Liking on the Consumption of Nutrient Rich and Nutrient Poor Foods, Front. Nutr. 6 (2019) 174. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNUT.2019.00174.
- [24] R.A. Wise, Dopamine, learning and motivation, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2004
 56. 5 (2004) 483–494. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn1406.
- [25] J.G. Parker, L.S. Zweifel, J.J. Clark, S.B. Evans, P.E.M. Phillips, R.D. Palmiter, Absence of NMDA receptors in dopamine neurons attenuates dopamine release but not conditioned approach during Pavlovian conditioning, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 107 (2010) 13491–13496. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1007827107.
- [26] J.W. Grimm, J.H. Harkness, C. Ratliff, J. Barnes, K. North, S. Collins, Effects of systemic or nucleus accumbens-directed dopamine D1 receptor antagonism on sucrose seeking in rats, Psychopharmacology (Berl). 216 (2011) 219–233. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-011-2210-y.
- [27] M. Zhang, C. Balmadrid, A.E. Kelley, Nucleus accumbens opioid, GABAergic, and dopaminergic modulation of palatable food motivation: Contrasting effects revealed by a progressive ratio study in the rat, Behav. Neurosci. 117 (2003) 202–211. https://doi.org/10.1037/0735-7044.117.2.202.
- [28] S.E. Yohn, E.E. Errante, A. Rosenbloom-Snow, M. Somerville, M.

Rowland, K. Tokarski, N. Zafar, M. Correa, J.D. Salamone, Blockade of uptake for dopamine, but not norepinephrine or 5-HT, increases selection of high effort instrumental activity: Implications for treatment of effortrelated motivational symptoms in psychopathology, Neuropharmacology. 109 (2016) 270–280.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROPHARM.2016.06.018.

- S. Peciña, B. Cagniard, K.C. Berridge, J.W. Aldridge, X. Zhuang,
 Hyperdopaminergic Mutant Mice Have Higher "Wanting" But Not "Liking"
 for Sweet Rewards, J. Neurosci. 23 (2003) 9395.
 https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.23-28-09395.2003.
- [30] I.E. de Araujo, J.G. Ferreira, L.A. Tellez, X. Ren, C.W. Yeckel, The Gut-Brain Dopamine Axis: A Regulatory System for Caloric Intake, Physiol.
 Behav. 106 (2012) 394. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHYSBEH.2012.02.026.
- [31] A. Sclafani, K. Touzani, R.J. Bodnar, Dopamine and learned food preferences, Physiol. Behav. 104 (2011) 64–68.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2011.04.039.
- [32] K. Skibicka, C. Hansson, E. Egecioglu, S. Dickson, Role of ghrelin in food reward: impact of ghrelin on sucrose self-administration and mesolimbic dopamine and acetylcholine receptor gene expression, Addict. Biol. 17 (2012) 95–107. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1369-1600.2010.00294.X.
- [33] A.M. Naleid, M.K. Grace, D.E. Cummings, A.S. Levine, Ghrelin induces feeding in the mesolimbic reward pathway between the ventral tegmental

area and the nucleus accumbens, Peptides. 26 (2005) 2274–2279. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.peptides.2005.04.025.

- [34] E. Jerlhag, E. Egecioglu, S. Dickson, M. Andersson, L. Svensson, J. Engel, Ghrelin stimulates locomotor activity and accumbal dopamine-overflow via central cholinergic systems in mice: implications for its involvement in brain reward, Addict. Biol. 11 (2006) 45–54. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1369-1600.2006.00002.X.
- [35] E. Jerlhag, E. Egecioglu, S. Dickson, J. Engel, Ghrelin receptor antagonism attenuates cocaine- and amphetamine-induced locomotor stimulation, accumbal dopamine release, and conditioned place preference, Psychopharmacology (Berl). 211 (2010) 415–422. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00213-010-1907-7.
- [36] E. Jerlhag, J. Engel, Ghrelin receptor antagonism attenuates nicotineinduced locomotor stimulation, accumbal dopamine release and conditioned place preference in mice, Drug Alcohol Depend. 117 (2011) 126–131. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DRUGALCDEP.2011.01.010.
- [37] D. Figlewicz, Expression of receptors for insulin and leptin in the ventral tegmental area/substantia nigra (VTA/SN) of the rat: Historical perspective, Brain Res. 1645 (2016) 68–70.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BRAINRES.2015.12.041.
- [38] D.M. Mebel, J.C.Y. Wong, Y.J. Dong, S.L. Borgland, Insulin in the ventral tegmental area reduces hedonic feeding and suppresses dopamine

76

concentration via increased reuptake, Eur. J. Neurosci. 36 (2012) 2336– 2346. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1460-9568.2012.08168.x.

- [39] G. Labouèbe, S. Liu, C. Dias, H. Zou, J.C.Y. Wong, S. Karunakaran, S.M. Clee, A. Phillips, B. Boutrel, S.L. Borgland, Insulin induces long-term depression of VTA dopamine neurons via an endocannabinoid-mediated mechanism, Nat. Neurosci. 16 (2013) 300. https://doi.org/10.1038/NN.3321.
- [40] J.D. Hommel, R. Trinko, R.M. Sears, D. Georgescu, Z.W. Liu, X.B. Gao,
 J.J. Thurmon, M. Marinelli, R.J. DiLeone, Leptin Receptor Signaling in
 Midbrain Dopamine Neurons Regulates Feeding, Neuron. 51 (2006) 801–
 810. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2006.08.023.
- [41] M.E. Bocarsly, B.G. Hoebel, D. Paredes, I. Von Loga, S.M. Murray, M. Wang, M.P. Arolfo, L. Yao, I. Diamond, N.M. Avena, GS 455534 selectively suppresses binge eating of palatable food and attenuates dopamine release in the accumbens of sugar-bingeing rats, Behav. Pharmacol. 25 (2014) 147–157. https://doi.org/10.1097/FBP.00000000000029.
- P. Rada, N.M. Avena, B.G. Hoebel, Daily bingeing on sugar repeatedly releases dopamine in the accumbens shell, Neuroscience. 134 (2005)
 737–744. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROSCIENCE.2005.04.043.
- [43] N. Liang, A. Hajnal, R. Norgren, Sham feeding corn oil increases accumbens dopamine in the rat, Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 291 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1152/AJPREGU.00226.2006.

- [44] M.F. Roitman, R. Wheeler, R. Wightmn, R. Carelli, Real-time chemical responses in the nucleus accumbens differentiate rewarding and aversive stimuli, Nat. Neurosci. 11 (2008) 1376–1377. https://doi.org/10.1038/NN.2219.
- [45] M. Pardo, L. López-Cruz, N. San Miguel, J.D. Salamone, M. Correa, Selection of sucrose concentration depends on the effort required to obtain it: studies using tetrabenazine, D1, D2, and D3 receptor antagonists, Psychopharmacology (Berl). 232 (2015) 2377–2391. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00213-015-3872-7.
- [46] A. Bittencourt, P. Brum, C. Ribeiro, J. Gasparotto, R. Bortolin, A. de Vargas, L. Heimfarth, R. de Almeida, J. Moreira, J. de Oliveira, D. Gelain, High fat diet-induced obesity causes a reduction in brain tyrosine hydroxylase levels and non-motor features in rats through metabolic dysfunction, neuroinflammation and oxidative stress, Nutr. Neurosci. (2020). https://doi.org/10.1080/1028415X.2020.1831261.
- [47] Y. Li, T. South, M. Han, J. Chen, R. Wang, X.F. Huang, High-fat diet decreases tyrosine hydroxylase mRNA expression irrespective of obesity susceptibility in mice, Brain Res. 1268 (2009) 181–189. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BRAINRES.2009.02.075.
- [48] J. Alsiö, P.K. Olszewski, A.H. Norbäck, Z.E.A. Gunnarsson, A.S. Levine, C. Pickering, H.B. Schiöth, Dopamine D1 receptor gene expression decreases in the nucleus accumbens upon long-term exposure to palatable

food and differs depending on diet-induced obesity phenotype in rats, Neuroscience. 171 (2010) 779–787. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.09.046.

- [49] M. Romaní-Pérez, A.L. Lépinay, L. Alonso, M. Rincel, L. Xia, H. Fanet, S. Caillé, M. Cador, S. Layé, S. Vancassel, M. Darnaudéry, Impact of perinatal exposure to high-fat diet and stress on responses to nutritional challenges, food-motivated behaviour and mesolimbic dopamine function, Int. J. Obes. 41 (2017) 502–509. https://doi.org/10.1038/ijo.2016.236.
- [50] D.M. Arcego, R. Krolow, C. Lampert, A.P. Toniazzo, E. dos S. Garcia, C. Lazzaretti, G. Costa, C. Scorza, C. Dalmaz, Chronic high-fat diet affects food-motivated behavior and hedonic systems in the nucleus accumbens of male rats, Appetite. 153 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2020.104739.
- [51] P.M. Johnson, P.J. Kenny, Addiction-like reward dysfunction and compulsive eating in obese rats: Role for dopamine D2 receptors, Nat. Neurosci. 13 (2010) 635. https://doi.org/10.1038/NN.2519.
- [52] M. Valenza, L. Steardo, P. Cottone, V. Sabino, Diet-induced obesity and diet-resistant rats: Differences in the rewarding and anorectic effects of damphetamine, Psychopharmacology (Berl). 232 (2015) 3215–3226. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00213-015-3981-3.
- [53] G. BM, H. M, A. NM, M. MC, H. BG, P. EN, Deficits of mesolimbic dopamine neurotransmission in rat dietary obesity, Neuroscience. 159

79

(2009) 1193–1199.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROSCIENCE.2009.02.007.

- [54] L. Naef, L. Moquin, G. Dal Bo, B. Giros, A. Gratton, C.D. Walker, Maternal high-fat intake alters presynaptic regulation of dopamine in the nucleus accumbens and increases motivation for fat rewards in the offspring, Neuroscience. 176 (2011) 225–236.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROSCIENCE.2010.12.037.
- [55] L. Hernandez, B.G. Hoebel, Food reward and cocaine increase extracellular dopamine in the nucleus accumbens as measured by microdialysis, Life Sci. 42 (1988) 1705–1712. https://doi.org/10.1016/0024-3205(88)90036-7.
- [56] J.F. Davis, A.L. Tracy, J.D. Schurdak, M.H. Tschöp, J.W. Lipton, Exposure to elevated levels of dietary fat attenuates psychostimulant reward and mesolimbic dopamine turnover in the rat, Behav. Neurosci. 122 (2008) 1257–1263. https://doi.org/10.1037/A0013111.
- J.F. Davis, A.L. Tracy, J.D. Schurdak, M.H. Tschöp, J.W. Lipton, D.J.
 Clegg, S.C. Benoit, Exposure to Elevated Levels of Dietary Fat Attenuates
 Psychostimulant Reward and Mesolimbic Dopamine Turnover in the Rat,
 Behav. Neurosci. 122 (2008) 1257–1263.
 https://doi.org/10.1037/a0013111.
- [58] J. Ibias, M. Miguéns, D. del Rio, I. Valladolid-Acebes, P. Stucchi, E. Ambrosio, M. Martín, L. Morales, M. Ruiz-Gayo, N. Del Olmo, Decreased

rates of operant food self-administration are associated with reward deficits in high-fat feeding mice, Eur. J. Nutr. 55 (2016) 1615–1622. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00394-015-0980-4.

- [59] F. Tantot, S.L. Parkes, A.R. Marchand, C. Boitard, F. Naneix, S. Layé, P. Trifilieff, E. Coutureau, G. Ferreira, The effect of high-fat diet consumption on appetitive instrumental behavior in rats, Appetite. 108 (2017) 203–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPET.2016.10.001.
- [60] C.M. Mazzone, J. Liang-Guallpa, C. Li, N.S. Wolcott, M.H. Boone, M. Southern, N.P. Kobzar, I. de A. Salgado, D.M. Reddy, F. Sun, Y. Zhang, Y. Li, G. Cui, M.J. Krashes, High-fat food biases hypothalamic and mesolimbic expression of consummatory drives, Nat. Neurosci. 23 (2020) 1253–1266. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-020-0684-9.
- [61] C.M. Tenk, T. Felfeli, Sucrose and fat content significantly affects palatable food consumption in adolescent male and female rats, Appetite. 118 (2017) 49–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPET.2017.07.016.
- [62] J. Ibias, M. Miguéns, D. del Rio, I. Valladolid-Acebes, P. Stucchi, E. Ambrosio, M. Martín, L. Morales, M. Ruiz-Gayo, N. Del Olmo, Decreased rates of operant food self-administration are associated with reward deficits in high-fat feeding mice, Eur. J. Nutr. 2015 554. 55 (2015) 1615–1622. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00394-015-0980-4.
- [63] D.M. Arcego, R. Krolow, C. Lampert, A.P. Toniazzo, E. dos S. Garcia, C.Lazzaretti, G. Costa, C. Scorza, C. Dalmaz, Chronic high-fat diet affects

food-motivated behavior and hedonic systems in the nucleus accumbens of male rats, Appetite. 153 (2020) 104739. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.APPET.2020.104739.

- [64] C. Hryhorczuk, M. Florea, D. Rodaros, I. Poirier, C. Daneault, C. Des Rosiers, A. Arvanitogiannis, T. Alquier, S. Fulton, Dampened mesolimbic dopamine function and signaling by saturated but not monounsaturated dietary lipids, Neuropsychopharmacology. 41 (2016) 811–821. https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2015.207.
- [65] S. Cabib, C. Orsini, M. Le Moal, P. Piazza, Abolition and reversal of strain differences in behavioral responses to drugs of abuse after a brief experience, Science. 289 (2000) 463–465. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.289.5478.463.
- [66] K.D. Carr, Chronic food restriction: Enhancing effects on drug reward and striatal cell signaling, Physiol. Behav. 91 (2007) 459–472.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHYSBEH.2006.09.021.
- [67] C. Rabasa, J. Winsa-Jörnulf, H. Vogel, C.S. Babaei, K. Askevik, S.L. Dickson, Behavioral consequences of exposure to a high fat diet during the post-weaning period in rats, Horm. Behav. 85 (2016) 56–66. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2016.07.008.
- [68] M.Y. Liu, C.Y. Yin, L.J. Zhu, X.H. Zhu, C. Xu, C.X. Luo, H. Chen, D.Y. Zhu, Q.G. Zhou, Sucrose preference test for measurement of stress-induced anhedonia in mice, Nat. Protoc. 13 (2018) 1686–1698.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41596-018-0011-z.

- [69] B.T. Lett, V.L. Grant, M.J. Byrne, M.T. Koh, Pairings of a distinctive chamber with the aftereffect of wheel running produce conditioned place preference, Appetite. 34 (2000) 87–94.
 https://doi.org/10.1006/APPE.1999.0274.
- [70] T.W. Belke, Varying wheel-running reinforcer duration within a session: effect on the revolution-postreinforcement pause relation., J. Exp. Anal. Behav. 73 (2000) 225. https://doi.org/10.1901/JEAB.2000.73-225.
- S. Brené, A. Bjørnebekk, E. Åberg, A.A. Mathé, L. Olson, M. Werme,
 Running is rewarding and antidepressive, Physiol. Behav. 92 (2007) 136.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PHYSBEH.2007.05.015.
- M. Burgess, J. Davis, T. Borg, J. Buggy, Intracranial self-stimulation motivates treadmill running in rats, J. Appl. Physiol. 71 (1991) 1593–1597. https://doi.org/10.1152/JAPPL.1991.71.4.1593.
- [73] D. V. Wang, J.Z. Tsien, Conjunctive Processing of Locomotor Signals by the Ventral Tegmental Area Neuronal Population, PLoS One. 6 (2011) e16528. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0016528.
- [74] S. Hattori, M. Naoi, H. Nishino, Striatal dopamine turnover during treadmill running in the rat: relation to the speed of running, Brain Res. Bull. 35 (1994) 41–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/0361-9230(94)90214-3.
- [75] I. Liste, M. Guerra, H. Caruncho, J. Labandeira-Garcia, Treadmill running

induces striatal Fos expression via NMDA glutamate and dopamine receptors, Exp. Brain Res. 115 (1997) 458–469. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00005715.

- [76] W. Lynch, K. Piehl, G. Acosta, A. Peterson, S. Hemby, Aerobic exercise attenuates reinstatement of cocaine-seeking behavior and associated neuroadaptations in the prefrontal cortex, Biol. Psychiatry. 68 (2010) 774– 777. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPSYCH.2010.06.022.
- [77] M.A. Smith, E.G. Pitts, Wheel Running Decreases the Positive Reinforcing Effects of Heroin, Pharmacol. Rep. 64 (2012) 960.
 /pmc/articles/PMC3760409/ (accessed August 4, 2021).
- [78] B.N. Greenwood, T.E. Foley, T. V. Le, P. V. Strong, A.B. Loughridge,
 H.E.W. Day, M. Fleshner, Long-term voluntary wheel running is rewarding and produces plasticity in the mesolimbic reward pathway, Behav. Brain Res. 217 (2011) 354–362. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2010.11.005.
- [79] L. Robison, S. Swenson, J. Hamilton, P. Thanos, Exercise Reduces
 Dopamine D1R and Increases D2R in Rats: Implications for Addiction,
 Med. Sci. Sports Exerc. 50 (2018) 1596–1602.
 https://doi.org/10.1249/MSS.00000000001627.
- [80] T.E. Foley, M. Fleshner, Neuroplasticity of dopamine circuits after exercise: implications for central fatigue, Neuromolecular Med. 10 (2008) 67–80. https://doi.org/10.1007/S12017-008-8032-3.
- [81] N. Tümer, H.A. Demirel, L. Serova, E.L. Sabban, C.S. Broxson, S.K.

Powers, Gene expression of catecholamine biosynthetic enzymes following exercise: Modulation by age, Neuroscience. 103 (2001) 703–711. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0306-4522(01)00020-3.

- [82] W. Chen, H.J. Wang, N.N. Shang, J. Liu, J. Li, D.H. Tang, Q. Li, Moderate intensity treadmill exercise alters food preference via dopaminergic plasticity of ventral tegmental area-nucleus accumbens in obese mice, Neurosci. Lett. 641 (2017) 56–61. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2017.01.055.
- [83] G.A. Bray, T.A. Wadden, Improving long-term weight loss maintenance:Can we do it?, Obesity. 23 (2015) 2–3. https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.20964.
- [84] D.N. Cox, L. Perry, P.B. Moore, L. Vallis, D.J. Mela, Sensory and hedonic associations with macronutrient and energy intakes of lean and obese consumers, Int. J. Obes. 23 (1999) 403–410. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.ijo.0800836.
- [85] E.J. Crespi, M.K. Unkefer, Development of food intake controls: Neuroendocrine and environmental regulation of food intake during early life, Horm. Behav. 66 (2014) 74–85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.yhbeh.2014.04.004.
- [86] S.J. Spencer, Perinatal programming of neuroendocrine mechanisms connecting feeding behavior and stress, Front. Neurosci. 7 (2013). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2013.00109.
- [87] A.L. Tracy, C.J.M. Wee, G.E. Hazeltine, R.A. Carter, Characterization of

attenuated food motivation in high-fat diet-induced obesity: Critical roles for time on diet and reinforcer familiarity, Physiol. Behav. 141 (2015) 69–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2015.01.008.

- [88] E. Vagena, J.K. Ryu, B. Baeza-Raja, N.M. Walsh, C. Syme, J.P. Day, M.D. Houslay, G.S. Baillie, A high-fat diet promotes depression-like behavior in mice by suppressing hypothalamic PKA signaling, Transl. Psychiatry. 9 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-019-0470-1.
- [89] L. Naef, L. Moquin, G. Dal Bo, B. Giros, A. Gratton, C.D. Walker, Maternal high-fat intake alters presynaptic regulation of dopamine in the nucleus accumbens and increases motivation for fat rewards in the offspring, Neuroscience. 176 (2011) 225–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuroscience.2010.12.037.
- [90] J.D. Steketee, P.W. Kalivas, Drug wanting: Behavioral sensitization and relapse to drug-seeking behavior, Pharmacol. Rev. 63 (2011) 348–365. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.109.001933.
- [91] L. Small, H. Gong, C. Yassmin, G.J. Cooney, A.E. Brandon, Thermoneutral housing does not influence fat mass or glucose homeostasis in C57BL/6 mice, J. Endocrinol. 239 (2018) 313–324. https://doi.org/10.1530/JOE-18-0279.
- [92] D.G. Herrera, H.A. Robertson, Activation of c-fos in the brain, Prog.
 Neurobiol. 50 (1996) 83–107. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0301 0082(96)00021-4.

- [93] H.-X. Sun, D.-R. Wang, C.-B. Ye, Z.-Z. Hu, C.-Y. Wang, Z.-L. Huang, S.-R. Yang, Activation of the ventral tegmental area increased wakefulness in mice, Sleep Biol. Rhythms. 15 (2017) 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1007/s41105-017-0094-x.
- [94] J.A. Frie, J.Y. Khokhar, An open source automated two-bottle choice test apparatus for rats, HardwareX. 5 (2019).
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ohx.2019.e00061.
- [95] M.Y. Liu, C.Y. Yin, L.J. Zhu, X.H. Zhu, C. Xu, C.X. Luo, H. Chen, D.Y. Zhu, Q.G. Zhou, Sucrose preference test for measurement of stress-induced anhedonia in mice, Nat. Protoc. 13 (2018) 1686–1698. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41596-018-0011-z.
- C. Boitard, N. Etchamendy, J. Sauvant, A. Aubert, S. Tronel, A. Marighetto,
 S. Layé, G. Ferreira, Juvenile, but not adult exposure to high-fat diet
 impairs relational memory and hippocampal neurogenesis in mice,
 Hippocampus. 22 (2012) 2095–2100. https://doi.org/10.1002/hipo.22032.
- [97] L. Cui, M. Liu, X. Chang, K. Sun, The inhibiting effect of the Coptis chinensis polysaccharide on the type II diabetic mice, Biomed.
 Pharmacother. 81 (2016) 111–119.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2016.03.038.
- [98] P. Lang, S. Hasselwander, H. Li, N. Xia, Effects of different diets used in diet-induced obesity models on insulin resistance and vascular dysfunction in C57BL/6 mice, Sci. Rep. 9 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-019-

55987-x.

- [99] J. Hyun Jeong, Y. Ran Lee, H. Geun Park, W. Lok Lee, The effects of either resveratrol or exercise on macrophage infiltration and switching from M1 to M2 in high fat diet mice, J. Exerc. Nutr. Biochem. 19 (2015) 65–72. https://doi.org/10.5717/jenb.2015.15060203.
- [100] M. Morales, E.B. Margolis, Ventral tegmental area: Cellular heterogeneity, connectivity and behaviour, Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 18 (2017) 73–85. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn.2016.165.
- [101] T.-H. Tsai, H.-T. Chai, C.-K. Sun, C.-H. Yen, S. Leu, Y.-L. Chen, S.-Y. Chung, S.-F. Ko, H.-W. Chang, C.-J. Wu, H.-K. Yip, Obesity suppresses circulating level and function of endothelial progenitor cells and heart function, J. Transl. Med. 10 (2012) 137. https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5876-10-137.
- [102] S.N. Bleich, D. Cutler, C. Murray, A. Adams, Why Is the Developed World Obese?,
 Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.1146/Annurev.Publhealth.29.020907.090954. 29
 (2008) 273–295.
 https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.PUBLHEALTH.29.020907.090954.
- [103] J.M. Beaulieu, R.R. Gainetdinov, The physiology, signaling, and pharmacology of dopamine receptors, Pharmacol. Rev. 63 (2011) 182– 217. https://doi.org/10.1124/pr.110.002642.
- [104] J.H. Baik, Dopamine signaling in reward-related behaviors, Front. Neural

Circuits. 7 (2013). https://doi.org/10.3389/fncir.2013.00152.

- [105] P. Terry, D.B. Gilbert, S.J. Cooper, Dopamine receptor subtype agonists and feeding behavior., Obes. Res. 3 Suppl 4 (1995). https://doi.org/10.1002/j.1550-8528.1995.tb00221.x.
- [106] J.A. Beeler, R.P. Faust, S. Turkson, H. Ye, X. Zhuang, Low Dopamine D2 Receptor Increases Vulnerability to Obesity Via Reduced Physical Activity, Not Increased Appetitive Motivation, Biol. Psychiatry. 79 (2016) 887–897. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.07.009.
- [107] B.A. de Weijer, E. van de Giessen, T.A. van Amelsvoort, E. Boot, B. Braak, I.M. Janssen, A. van de Laar, E. Fliers, M.J. Serlie, J. Booij, Lower striatal dopamine D2/3 receptor availability in obese compared with non-obese subjects, EJNMMI Res. 1 (2011) 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1186/2191-219X-1-37.
- [108] V.Z. Wall, J.G. Parker, J.P. Fadok, M. Darvas, L. Zweifel, R.D. Palmiter, A behavioral genetics approach to understanding D1 receptor involvement in phasic dopamine signaling, Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 46 (2011) 21–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mcn.2010.09.011.
- [109] K. Aoyama, J. Barnes, J. Koerber, E. Glueck, K. Dorsey, L. Eaton, J.W. Grimm, Systemic injection of the DAD1 antagonist SCH 23390 reduces saccharin seeking in rats, Appetite. 105 (2016) 8–13. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.appet.2016.05.008.
- [110] N.D. Volkow, M. Morales, The Brain on Drugs: From Reward to Addiction,

Cell. 162 (2015) 712–725. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2015.07.046.

- [111] X. Wei, T. Ma, Y. Cheng, C.C.Y. Huang, X. Wang, J. Lu, J. Wang, Dopamine D1 or D2 receptor-expressing neurons in the central nervous system, Addict. Biol. 23 (2018) 569. https://doi.org/10.1111/ADB.12512.
- [112] C.M. Gallardo, M. Darvas, M. Oviatt, C.H. Chang, M. Michalik, T.F. Huddy, E.E. Meyer, S.A. Shuster, A. Aguayo, E.M. Hill, K. Kiani, J. Ikpeazu, J.S. Martinez, M. Purpura, A.N. Smit, D.F. Patton, R.E. Mistlberger, R.D. Palmiter, A.D. Steele, Dopamine receptor 1 neurons in the dorsal striatum regulate food anticipatory circadian activity rhythms in mice, Elife. 3 (2014) e03781. https://doi.org/10.7554/ELIFE.03781.
- [113] B.B. Land, N.S. Narayanan, R.-J. Liu, C.A. Gianessi, C.E. Brayton, D. M
 Grimaldi, M. Sarhan, D.J. Guarnieri, K. Deisseroth, G.K. Aghajanian, R.J.
 DiLeone, Medial prefrontal D1 dopamine neurons control food intake, Nat.
 Neurosci. 2014 172. 17 (2014) 248–253. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.3625.
- [114] K.L.J. Ellacott, G.J. Morton, S.C. Woods, P. Tso, M.W. Schwartz, Assessment of feeding behavior in laboratory mice, Cell Metab. 12 (2010) 10. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CMET.2010.06.001.
- [115] M.J. Rubinow, D.A. Hagerbaumer, J.M. Juraska, The food-conditioned place preference task in adolescent, adult and aged rats of both sexes, Behav. Brain Res. 198 (2009) 263.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBR.2008.11.024.

[116] P. Gaspar, B. Bloch, C. Le Moine, D1 and D2 Receptor Gene Expression

in the Rat Frontal Cortex: Cellular Localization in Different Classes of Efferent Neurons, Eur. J. Neurosci. 7 (1995) 1050–1063. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1460-9568.1995.TB01092.X.

- [117] D. Chaudhury, J.J. Walsh, A.K. Friedman, B. Juarez, S.M. Ku, J.W. Koo, D. Ferguson, H.-C. Tsai, L. Pomeranz, D.J. Christoffel, A.R. Nectow, M. Ekstrand, A. Domingos, M.S. Mazei-Robison, E. Mouzon, M.K. Lobo, R.L. Neve, J.M. Friedman, S.J. Russo, K. Deisseroth, E.J. Nestler, M.-H. Han, Rapid regulation of depression-related behaviours by control of midbrain dopamine neurons, Nat. 2012 4937433. 493 (2012) 532–536. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11713.
- [118] N.S. Narayanan, B.B. Land, J.E. Solder, K. Deisseroth, R.J. DiLeone, Prefrontal D1 dopamine signaling is required for temporal control, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 109 (2012) 20726–20731. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1211258109.
- [119] S.A. Castner, G. V. Williams, P.S. Goldman-Rakic, Reversal of antipsychotic-induced working memory deficits by short-term dopamine D1 receptor stimulation, Science (80-.). 287 (2000) 2020–2022. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.287.5460.2020.
- [120] S.G. Nair, B.M. Navarre, C. Cifani, C.L. Pickens, J.M. Bossert, Y. Shaham, Role of Dorsal Medial Prefrontal Cortex Dopamine D1-Family Receptors in Relapse to High-Fat Food Seeking Induced by the Anxiogenic Drug Yohimbine, Neuropsychopharmacol. 2011 362. 36 (2010) 497–510.

https://doi.org/10.1038/npp.2010.181.

- [121] K. Touzani, R.J. Bodnar, A. Sclafani, Acquisition of glucose-conditioned flavor preference requires the activation of dopamine D1-like receptors within the medial prefrontal cortex in rats, Neurobiol. Learn. Mem. 94 (2010) 214–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NLM.2010.05.009.
- [122] V. Bassareo, M.A. De Luca, G. Di Chiara, Differential Expression of Motivational Stimulus Properties by Dopamine in Nucleus Accumbens Shell versus Core and Prefrontal Cortex, J. Neurosci. 22 (2002) 4709. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.22-11-04709.2002.
- [123] S.K. LEONARD, J.M. PETITTO, C.M. ANDERSON, D.H. MOONEY, J.E. LACHOWICZ, D.W. SCHULZ, C.D. KILTS, R.B. MAILMAN, D1 Dopamine Receptors in the Amygdala Exhibit Unique Properties, Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 985 (2003) 536–539. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1749-6632.2003.TB07121.X.
- [124] E. Asan, Ultrastructural features of tyrosine-hydroxylase-immunoreactive afferents and their targets in the rat amygdala, Cell Tissue Res. 1997 2883.
 288 (1997) 449–469. https://doi.org/10.1007/S004410050832.
- [125] H. A, L. L, Feeding-related dopamine in the amygdala of freely moving rats, Neuroreport. 8 (1997) 2817–2820. https://doi.org/10.1097/00001756-199708180-00033.
- [126] M.E. ANDRZEJEWSKI, R.C. SPENCER, A.E. KELLEY, INSTRUMENTAL LEARNING, BUT NOT PERFORMANCE, REQUIRES DOPAMINE D1-

RECEPTOR ACTIVATION IN THE AMYGDALA, Neuroscience. 135 (2005) 335. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROSCIENCE.2005.06.038.

- [127] K. Touzani, R.J. Bodnar, A. Sclafani, Dopamine D1-like receptor antagonism in amygdala impairs the acquisition of glucose-conditioned flavor preference in rats., Eur. J. Neurosci. 30 (2009) 289. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1460-9568.2009.06829.X.
- [128] M.-Y. Liu, C.-Y. Yin, L.-J. Zhu, X.-H. Zhu, C. Xu, C.-X. Luo, H. Chen, D.-Y. Zhu, Q.-G. Zhou, Sucrose preference test for measurement of stressinduced anhedonia in mice, Nat. Protoc. 2018 137. 13 (2018) 1686–1698. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41596-018-0011-z.
- [129] S. Dionysopoulou, E. Charmandari, A. Bargiota, N.F. Vlahos, G. Mastorakos, G. Valsamakis, The Role of Hypothalamic Inflammation in Diet-Induced Obesity and Its Association with Cognitive and Mood Disorders, Nutrients. 13 (2021) 1–21. https://doi.org/10.3390/NU13020498.
- [130] J. Cho, N.I. Goldenson, M.S. Pester, R. Khoddam, M.S. Bello, G.F. Dunton, B.R. Belcher, A.M. Leventhal, Longitudinal Associations between Anhedonia and BMI Trajectory Groups among Adolescents, J. Adolesc. Health. 63 (2018) 81.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JADOHEALTH.2017.12.022.

[131] V. Gabbay, B.A. Ely, Q. Li, S.D. Bangaru, A.M. Panzer, C.M. Alonso, F.X. Castellanos, M.P. Milham, Striatum-Based Circuitry of Adolescent Depression and Anhedonia, J. Am. Acad. Child Adolesc. Psychiatry. 52 (2013) 628. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAC.2013.04.003.

[132] A. Der-Avakian, A. Markou, The Neurobiology of Anhedonia and Other Reward-Related Deficits, Trends Neurosci. 35 (2012) 68. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TINS.2011.11.005.